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("TruFin" or the "Company" or together with its subsidiaries "TruFin Group" or the "Group")

FINAL RESULTS FOR THE 12 MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Full year results highlight direction of travel

TruFin is  pleased to announce i ts  audited results  for the 12 months  ended 31 December 2022. TruFin's  complete annual
report and accounts , which set out these results  in ful l  detai l  with accompanying commentary, are now avai lable on
TruFin's  website: www.Trufin.com/investors .

Financial Highlights 

·    Gross  revenues grew 23% to £16.1m (2021: £13.1m) driven by s igni ficant revenue growth from three out of four

subs idiaries

·    Recurring software and l icens ing fees  represented 84% of revenue (2021: 87%)

·    Gross  profi t margin grew to 69% (2021: 53%)

·    Loss  Before Tax ("LBT") was  £8.0m (2021: £8.4m)

·    Cash and cash equivalents  at year end total led £10.3m (£3.9m unrestricted)

Company Highlights

·    Oxygen Finance Limited ("Oxygen") EBITDA increased 62% to £1.1m (2021: £0.7m)

·    Satago Financial  Solutions  Limited ("Satago") grew revenues by more than 350% to £2.2m (2021: £0.5m) after i ts

platform was chosen to support invoice factoring solutions  for Lloyds  Bank plc ("Lloyds  Bank" or the "Bank")

customers

·    Playstack Limited ("Playstack") acquired Magic Fuel  Games Inc. ("Magic Fuel") and s igned a concurrent technology

contract with a  global  technology platform

·    Vertus  Capital  Limited ("Vertus") grew i ts  loan book by 38% and revenues by 61% to £2.2m (2021: £1.4m)

Current Trading and Prospects

·    Group revenues in January 2023 were not less  than £0.98m (unaudited), growing 26% compared to January 2022

·    Oxygen Q1 revenues to date have experienced double digi t growth when compared to the same period in 2022

·    Satago del ivered the tria l  phase to Lloyds  Bank for a  digi tised end-to-end invoice finance solution

·    Playstack has  secured more than 5 games for release throughout 2023

·    Vertus 's  pipel ine remains  strong. Despite early loan settlements  dragging on loan book growth, revenues in January

2023 were up 83% versus  January 2022

 
James van den Bergh, TruFin CEO, said:

"2022 was a  s igni ficant year for the Group. Satago secured a landmark contract and £5m equity investment from Lloyds,
and soon after s igned an embedded finance and package deal  with Sage. To win such headl ine contracts  in just 12 months
is  testament to the qual i ty of the offering Sinead McHale and her team have bui l t and gives  shareholders  a  taste of what the
future holds .

Oxygen, managed by Ben Jackson, yet again grew i ts  cl ient base, revenues and EBITDA. Oxygen's  key internal  ini tiatives
include helping cl ients  to purchase multiple products ; i t i s  thus  very pleas ing to note that more cl ients  than ever chose to
purchase two or more products  during 2023. We expect this  trend to continue. At the point of value crystal l i sation, given i ts
s igni ficant and growing embedded revenue base, we fel t justi fied in rejecting the unsol ici ted bid for Oxygen in December
2022.

Meanwhi le, 2023 is  an important year for Playstack. Company CEO Harvey El l iot has  secured an eye-catching and enviable
l ine up of games and is  looking to demonstrate the embedded value he has  created in recent years .

As  a lways, Vertus  is  benefi tting from the IFA market trend for consol idation and continues  to be ski l ful ly managed by Matt
Marais .

We are exci ted by the future and the opportunities  that l ie ahead and look forward to another year of s igni ficant progress ."
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Chair's Statement
I  have great pleasure in presenting this  year's  Annual  Report and Accounts . It has  been another year of very pos itive
developments  for the Group's  bus inesses  despite the unfavourable macro-economic headwinds  that have once again
dominated the last 12 months.

After more than a decade of monetary accommodation and historical ly low interest rates , there has  been a sea change in
the economic and financial  cl imate. The economic legacy of Covid-19 has  been high inflation, as  recovering demand
coincided with disrupted supply chains  - exacerbated by rapid commodity price rises  due to the war in Ukraine. In
response, central  banks  have pushed up interest rates  and withdrawn or reversed quanti tative eas ing.

Although the market environment is  unl ikely to get eas ier anytime soon, I  am proud to say that the Group is  continuing on
its  growth trajectory and I am certain that the commitment and determination of our employees  wi l l  enable the Group to
ski l ful ly navigate this  more unpredictable environment, just as  2021 and 2022 saw TruFin prosper.

As  anticipated in my statement last year, 2022 has  been a year of cons iderable growth for three out of four of our
subs idiaries , a longs ide landmark contracts  and consol idation across  the Group. We head into 2023 set for further
progress  across  multiple fronts .

The foundations  for the Group's  success  were la id in previous  years , with the Group's  value-creating shareholder
restructure fol lowing the sale of Arrowgrass ' s take, a  successful  pivot towards  recurring software sales  and l icens ing fees
and a sustained relentless  focus  on exemplary cl ient service. These accompl ishments  paved the way for an ambitious  set of
goals  in 2022, which I am happy to report have in the main been met, and al lowed us  to set ever more chal lenging goals  for
2023 and beyond.

Chief among TruFin's  a ims for the year was  to see Satago selected by Lloyds  Bank plc ("Lloyds  Bank" or the "Bank") as
vendor of choice to support i ts  del ivery of invoice financing - this  was  achieved by early March. The same month saw the
Group ful fi l  a  second key goal : s trengthening i ts  balance sheet with an oversubscribed placing. These achievements  s i t
a longs ide organic growth and development across  our bus inesses , pos itioning us  for a  profi table future and increased
value creation for shareholders .

Highl ights  for 2022 include:

·    Satago s igning landmark contracts  with Lloyds  Bank, to help del iver invoice financing, and Sage, the leading smal l

and mid-s ized bus iness  software provider, to embed Satago services  in certain products  in the UK and Ireland

·    Oxygen del ivering another year of profi table growth and making i ts  fi rst dividend payment (of £0.25m) to the Group

·    Playstack acquis i tion and successful  integration of Magic Fuel  Games Inc ("Magic Fuel"), a  remote games

development studio based in San Francisco, USA

·    Vertus  recording i ts  second ful l  year of profi tabi l i ty whi lst growing i ts  loan book to £21.4m and increas ing i ts

revenues by 60% to £2.2m.

·    TruFin rais ing £10m via  an oversubscribed placing and open offer to existing and new shareholders

As  I look back over a  turbulent few years , I  am once again struck by the remarkable res i l ience of TruFin and i ts  subs idiaries
whi le facing a  global  pandemic and ongoing macro-economic uncertainty. The Group i tsel f saw revenues increase by more
than 23% last year, evidencing sol id fundamentals  underpinned by robust cost controls  and s igni ficant strategic
progress ion.

The close of 2022 saw perhaps  the clearest demonstration yet of the value of - and shareholder bel ief in - our proposition.
In late December, TruFin's  Board rejected a £26m indicative offer for Oxygen, judging that i t undervalued the bus iness  and
its  prospects . It i s  immensely satis fying to see the hard work, vis ion and execution of the Group recognised in this  way and
I have no doubt that we wi l l  see further s imi lar demonstrations  in 2023 and beyond.

As  ever, I  look forward to updating shareholders  on our continued progress  throughout the year and my thanks  go to a l l  our
employees  and shareholders , new and old, for their continued support.

Steve Baldwin

Chair

 
CEO's Review
As our Chair has  highl ighted, 2022 was a  year of important structural  development for TruFin.
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As our Chair has  highl ighted, 2022 was a  year of important structural  development for TruFin.

Despite the macroeconomic headwinds  and chal lenging inflationary pressures , our subs idiaries  grew their customer bases
s igni ficantly, s trengthened their partnerships  and have pos itioned themselves  for an exci ting 2023 and beyond.

At our inaugural  Capital  Markets  Day in October, we la id out our medium-term vis ion for growth and sustainable
profi tabi l i ty. With a  medium-term revenue target of £80-100m coupled with attractive EBITDA margins , we are confident we
wi l l  del iver s igni ficant value to our shareholders .

It i s  a lso important to highl ight that a  key Group objective is  to create a  stable environment for our subs idiaries , never
more so than amid a global  l iquidity cris is  and ongoing interest rate uncertainty. The success  of our £10m placing and
open offer in Apri l  2022, supported by 17 insti tutional  shareholders , emphasises  TruFin's  strong insti tutional  shareholder
backing. This  ensures  that our subs idiaries  are enviably wel l -placed to consol idate their market leading pos itions  in the
years  ahead. 

2022 Group performance

Another Group strategic objective is  to reorientate income so that the majori ty comes from predictable and repeatable
sources. In 2022, 84% of Group revenues came from fee and recurring software and l icencing fees  with our capital  l ight
model  pos itioning us  to generate the high EBITDA margins  and return on equity that other software-as-a-service ("SaaS")
bus inesses  enjoy.

Overal l  Group revenues increased by 23% in 2022. Within this , Satago enjoyed revenue growth of more than 350% as  a
result of income generated from contract wins  with Lloyds  Bank and Sage. Vertus  and Oxygen also grew strongly - 61% and
28% respectively - continuing to fol low their profi table growth trajectory. Playstack meanwhi le consol idated i ts  pos ition
during the year; revenues decl ined 11% due to the previous ly announced delay of a  key console game release. The
rescheduled game launch is  not expected to impact the financial  support that Playstack requires  from TruFin.

The Group ended the year with a  cash balance of £10.3m (including cash of £5.6m in Satago and £0.8m in Vertus  which are
not 100% owned).

Current trading and prospects

TruFin has  meaningful  targets  for 2023 and Group revenues for January 2023 were not less  than £0.98m (unaudited), a  26%
increase over the same period in 2022. 

The Group remains  focused on del ivering growth, profi tabi l i ty and value crystal l i sation and is  exci ted by the s igni ficant
opportunities  that l ie ahead.

Outlook

During 2022 the Group successful ly completed several  key transactions, pos itioning ourselves  to weather the global
macroeconomic storms. In this  environment, global  l iquidity has  dried up and other market participants  are now acting
more rational ly. As  others  are forced to scrutinise their bus iness  models  more careful ly, TruFin wi l l  continue to plough i ts
own course. We have steered two of our four bus inesses  towards  profi tabi l i ty, with a  third anticipated to do the same
during 2023.

The Board's  rejection of an unsol ici ted offer for Oxygen is  a  s ign of TruFin's  strength. As  others  real ise the embedded value
and barriers  to entry within our bus inesses  we expect to see further interest and at the appropriate time expect to be
rewarding our shareholders  with value-creating transactions.

We have intentional ly invested in bui lding lasting relationships  with our partners  and we are beginning to see the fruits  of
these investments . We work closely with local  counci ls , FTSE100 companies  and global  technology platforms - del ivering
software, services  and products  to help meet their strategic requirements . The investments  we have made are paying off
and wi l l  generate s igni ficant shareholder returns  in the future.

My annual  'thank you' to our shareholders  is  made on behalf of the Board, our employees, partners  and al l  s takeholders
for their support and fa i th during these turbulent times. I  would a lso l ike to take the opportunity to welcome Anders
Wilhelmsen as  a  non-executive director. His  presence and expertise have proved invaluable additions  to the Board s ince
his  appointment in February 2022.  

As  a lways, there is  a  lot to do and a pi le of wood to chop in 2023, but we are brimming with confidence and look forward to
the opportunities  that l ie ahead. 

James van den Bergh

Chief Executive Officer

 
OXYGEN REVIEW

 
2022 performance

Oxygen del ivered revenues of £5.3m, up 28% (2021: £4.1m), with the increase driven by strong performance across  a l l
principal  revenue streams. This  helped increase EBITDA profi ts  by 62% to £1.1m (2021: £0.7m).

Strong trading and working capital  controls  enabled Oxygen to generate pos itive free cashflow - with no Group funding
required - and subsequently pay TruFin a  maiden dividend of £0.25m.

New business  continued to progress  wel l ; combined trade-spending by Oxygen's  early payment cl ients  increased by £0.3bn,
total l ing a  record £24bn. Oxygen's  SaaS product portfol io a lso expanded, with new products  creating incremental  revenue. 
Over 27% of Oxygen's  local  authori ty Early Payment Programme cl ients  a lso committed to at least one Oxygen SaaS
subscription.

The average Early Payment Programme cl ient tenure, a  measure of customer loyalty and Oxygen's  success  in renewing
contracts , reached 6.6 years  at the end of 2022 (2021: 5.8 years), adding to Oxygen's  recurring revenue streams.

Early Payment Programme cl ients  committed £1.1bn in spending to more than 4,000 suppl iers  during 2022 (2021: £878m).
New spend added during the year hi t a  record £330m (2021: £267m), 24% higher than the prior year.

Oxygen's  pos ition as  a  financial  technology company del ivering socia l  value strengthened s igni ficantly. Throughout 2022
more than 8,000 smal l  bus inesses  within Oxygen cl ients ' local  communities  received over £0.5bn in early payments  - at no
cost to the cl ient.  And together with EY, Oxygen continued to develop i ts  Carbon Reporting tool  which helps  counci ls
understand the carbon footprint of their supply chains .

Current trading and prospects

Indications  from ini tia l  trading in 2023 are strong with double digi t growth for recurring revenue streams continuing.

Continued economic volati l i ty makes  Oxygen's  products  increas ingly attractive; early payment solutions  are increas ing
relevant to our cl ients  and their suppl iers . Simi larly,  bus iness  development opportunities  identi fied by our SaaS offer are
increas ingly in demand from cl ients  seeking publ ic sector ins ight.

Interest from new early payment cl ients  i s  s trong, with several  contracts  expected to be s igned in Q1 2023.  Equal ly major
new cl ient features  added to SaaS products  in the second hal f of 2022 are rated by existing cl ients  and have generated
strong market interest.



 

SATAGO REVIEW
 

2022 performance

 
Fol lowing conclus ion of a  commercial  pi lot and competitive process , Satago was selected by Lloyds  Bank (the "Bank") to
del iver a  new digi tised invoice financing platform for i ts  UK customers..

Additional ly, the Bank made a strategic investment of £5m in Satago at a  post-money valuation of £25m.

Satago hit numerous del ivery mi lestones  for the Lloyds  Bank contract throughout the year, culminating in completing the
tria l  phase of i ts  ful ly digi tised end-to-end invoice finance solution for the Bank in early 2023. The Bank is  now testing the
digi tised proposition ahead of customer onboarding, expected in due course.

In June Satago s igned a Letter of Intent with Sage Group ("Sage") and Lloyds, introducing a  s igni ficant partner to work
alongs ide Satago and the Bank.

These major contract wins  coupled with a  continued pivot towards  Lending-As-A-Service ("LaaS") saw revenues increase by
over 350% to £2.2m (2021 :£0.5m).

Current trading and prospects

Early 2023 has  been dominated by continued work with existing and prospective LaaS cl ients  and Embedded Finance
partnerships . This  has  culminated in the del ivery of the tria l  phase of Satago's  ful ly digi tised end-to-end invoice finance
solution with Lloyds  Bank.

Meaningful  progress  with the Embedded Finance offering has  resulted in a  deepening of the relationship with Sage and a
s igned statement of work to embed Satago's  invoice finance service into Sage 50, which launched in Q1 2023. Satago also
extended the agreement to provide Satago to certain Sage 50 users  as  part of a  subscription package offering to the Irish
market. Further extending Satago's  core offerings  of credit control  and risk ins ights  to help SMEs better manage their debtor
book.

Satago has  a  growing pipel ine of LaaS and Embedded Finance customers  in the UK and Europe.

Demand for Satago's  own loan book offering increased during the fi rst two months  of 2023.

 
PLAYSTACK REVIEW

 

2022 performance

 

Alongs ide the acquis i tion of Magic Fuel  Games Inc ("Magic Fuel"), and the concurrent s igning of a  contract with a  global

technology platform, Playstack announced a delay to a  key console game ti tle which stunted the company's  annual  growth.
Despite the delay, Playstack's  existing games portfol io once again contributed more than 50% of games revenue in 2022,
through strong catalogue management and platform partnerships .

Given the success  of 'Magnitude', a  proprietary sourcing technology, in supporting the discovery of new games, the Board
has  focused resources  on further developing this  tool , which is  now surfacing over 80% of a l l  new game ti tles .

Playstack launched two new ti tles  during 2022: The Case of the Golden Idol  and The Entropy Centre. Both games have
received s igni ficant cri tical  accla im, with The Case of the Golden Idol  earning a  BAFTA Nomination for best Debut Game,
and also being shortl i s ted for the prestigious  Seumas McNal ly Grand Prize at the annual  Independent Game Festival
Awards  in San Francisco.

In 2023 Playstack is  focus ing on game ecosystems and wi l l  publ ish two new games with an extended l i fe wel l  beyond their
launch.  This  strategy aims to extend revenue predictabi l i ty and establ ish new, longer-lasting partnerships  with platform
holders .

Playstack is  wel l -placed to expand i ts  game portfol io in 2023 and beyond.

Current trading and prospects

Playstack's  console portfol io wi l l  be further extended in 2023, with expansions  to existing games and two new ti tles  set for

release, plus  an increas ingly strong pipel ine of ti tles  for 2024 and beyond.
The mobi le portfol io centres  on s ix key ti tles  for 2023, including the ongoing del ivery of the technology contract by Magic
Fuel .

Back-book games remain a  key component of future revenue model l ing, with an increased focus  on higher qual i ty, longer-
duration ti tles .

2023 is  expected to be a transformative year for the bus iness , with expectations  of profi tabi l i ty on a ful l -year bas is  with
revenue derived from a diverse range of games.

 
VERTUS REVIEW

 
2022 performance

New loan faci l i ties  closed during 2022 increased by 81% to £15.2m (2021: £8.4m), resulting in interest income increas ing
by 61% to £2.2m (2021: £1.4m).

Active faci l i ties  increased from 21 to 31 inclus ive of two early settlements . Overal l  loan book increased by 38% to £21.4m
(2021: £15.6m).

No defaults  or impairments  were recorded across  the book for the s ixth consecutive year. Increased market demand for
IFAs  and ongoing consol idation ensures  the value of securi ty over IFAs  remains  strong.

Current trading and prospects

Ongoing consol idation in the IFA market is  fuel l ing demand for funding, pos itioning Vertus  wel l  for further growth, as  the
only specia l is t capital  provider to the IFA sector. Furthermore, IFAs  continue to experience new-cl ient enquiries  and
organic growth, improving their top-l ine performance. We expect the change in strategy to lend whole-of-market to continue
to benefi t demand for capital  in the coming year.

Offsetting the secular consol idation trends, the impact of higher interest rates  and increased competition in the broader



Offsetting the secular consol idation trends, the impact of higher interest rates  and increased competition in the broader
market environment, has  spi l led over from 2022 into 2023, chal lenging loan book growth. 

Early settlements  remain a  risk to overal l  loan book growth, driven by higher cost of capital , customers  being sold to
consol idators  and al ternative lenders  and banks  entering the market to fund larger deals . However, our focus  remains  on
the smal ler end of the deal  market and, a l though loan book growth may s low, we sti l l  foresee steady demand to fund
acquis i tions  and MBOs in this  space. 

Lead times for clos ing faci l i ties  improved during the last quarter, indicating a  poss ible improvement in FCA process ing
times. This  wi l l  ass ist in reducing deal  cycles  and improving clos ing rates  in the pipel ine.

 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

 

 

Notes

 
2022

£'000

  
2021

£'000

Interest income 3 2,619 1,681
Fee income 3 7,183 4,330
Publ ishing income 3 6,317 7,104
Gross revenue 16,119 13,115
Interest, fee and publ ishing expenses (5,075) (6,214)

Net revenue 11,044  6,901

 
Staff costs 5 (12,609) (11,285)
Other operating expenses (4,810) (3,257)
Depreciation & amortisation (1,596) (794)

Net impairment on financial  assets 7 (50) 10

Share of profi t from associates 1 3
Loss before tax (8,020)  (8,422)

 
Taxation 2, 9 1,214 986
Loss for the year (6,806)  (7,436)
 

Other comprehensive income

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit and loss

Exchange di fferences  on trans lating foreign operations (65) (39)
    
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax (65)  (39)
Total comprehensive loss for the year (6,871)  (7,475)

Loss  for the year attributable to:

Owners  of TruFin plc (6,637) (7,071)
Non-control l ing interests (169) (365)

(6,806) (7,436)

Total  comprehensive loss  for the year attributable to:

Owners  of TruFin plc (6,704) (7,112)
Non-control l ing interests (167) (363)

(6,871)  (7,475)

 
 
 

 
 

Earnings per Share
 

Notes

 
2022

pence

  
2021

pence
Basic and Di luted EPS 22 (7.3) (8.7)

 

COMPANY STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
 

 

Notes

 
2022

£'000

  
2021

£'000

    

Revenue 3 2,293  2,126

 
Staff costs 5 (1,673) (1,911)
Other operating expenses (660) (624)
Depreciation & amortisation (2) -
Loss before tax (42)  (409)



Loss before tax (42)  (409)

 
Taxation 9 - -
Loss and total comprehensive income for the year (42) (409)
 

 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

 

Notes

 
2022

£'000

  
2021

£'000
Assets
Non-current assets
Intangible assets 10 24,411 21,191
Property, plant and equipment 11 345 65
Deferred tax asset 9 250 303
Loans and advances 13 15,016 11,575
Total non-current assets 40,022  33,134
 
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 10,273 7,608
Loans and advances 13 9,145 4,558
Interest in associate 4  3
Trade receivables 14 2,149  2,585
Other receivables 14 3,899  2,840
Total current assets 25,470  17,594
Total assets 65,492  50,728
 
Equity and liabilities
Equity
Issued share capital 15 85,706 73,548
Retained earnings (24,884) (17,731)
Foreign exchange reserve (63) 4
Other reserves (26,531) (24,393)
Equity attributable to owners of the company 34,228  31,428
Non-control l ing interest 19 5,876 1,023
Total equity 40,104  32,451
 
Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 16 16,764 11,351
Total non-current liabilities 16,764 11,351

Current liabilities
Borrowings 16 1,783 1,634
Trade and other payables 17 6,841 5,292
Total current liabilities 8,624  6,926
Total liabilities 25,388  18,277
Total equity and liabilities 65,492  50,728

 
COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

 

Notes

 
2022

£'000

  
2021

£'000

Assets

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 11 4 -

Investments  in subs idiaries 12 30,189 30,189

Amounts  owed by group undertakings 54,835 46,919

Total non-current assets 85,028 77,108

 
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 2,260 786

Trade and other receivables 14 138 144

Total current assets 2,398  930

Total assets 87,426  78,038

 



 
Equity and liabilities

Equity

Issued share capital 15 85,706 73,548

Retained earnings (6,042) (5,504)

Other reserves 6,828 8,966

Total equity 86,492  77,010

 
Liabilities

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 17 934 1,028

Total current liabilities 934  1,028
Total liabilities 934  1,028
Total equity and liabilities 87,426  78,038

 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
 

 
Share

capital
£'000

Retained
earnings

£'000

Foreign
exchange

reserve
£'000

Other
reserves

£'000
Total

£'000

Non-
controlling

interest
£'000  

Total
equity
£'000

Balance at 1 January 2022 73,548 (17,731) 4 (24,393) 31,428 1,023  32,451
Loss for the year - (6,637) - - (6,637) (169)  (6,806)
Other comprehensive income
for the year

- - (67) - (67) 2  (65)

Total comprehensive loss for
the year -  (6,637)  (67)  -  (6,704)  (167)  (6,871)

Issuance of shares 12,158 (496) - (2,138) 9,524 -  9,524
Issuance of shares by
subsidiary

- (20) - - (20) 5,020
 

5,000

Balance at 31 December 2022 85,706 (24,884) (63) (26,531) 34,228 5,876  40,104
 

Balance at 1 January 2021 73,548 (10,730) 45 (24,395) 38,468 1,268  39,736
Loss for the year -  (7,071)  -  -  (7,071)  (365)  (7,436)
Other comprehensive income
for the year

- - (41) - (41) 2
 

(39)

Total comprehensive loss for
the year - (7,071) (41) - (7,112) (363)  (7,475)

Share based payment - 70 - - 70 -  70
Adjustment arising from
change in non-controlling
interest

- 4 - - 4 (4)
 

-

Issuance of subsidiary shares
to employees -  -  -  -  -  19  19

Intragroup transfer of
subsidiary

- - - 2 2 -
 

2

Issuance of shares by
subsidiary

- (4) - - (4) 103
 

99

Balance at 31 December 2021 73,548 (17,731) 4 (24,393) 31,428 1,023  32,451

 

Share capital
Share capital  represents  the nominal  value of equity share capital  i ssued.

Retained earnings
The retained earnings  reserve represents  cumulative net gains  and losses .

Foreign exchange reserve
The foreign exchange reserve represents  exchange di fferences  which arise on consol idation from the trans lation of the
financial  s tatements  of foreign subs idiaries .

Other reserves
Other reserves  cons ist of the merger reserve, the share revaluation reserve and shares  issued at a  discount.

The merger reserve arose as  a  result of combining bus inesses  that are under common control . As  at 31 December 2022 i t
was  a  debit balance of £33,358,000 (2021: £33,358,000 )

The share revaluation reserve arose from the share cancel lation that took place in February 2018. As  at 31 December 2022
its  balance was £8,966,000 (2021: £8,966,000).

Shares  issued at a  discount arose from the share issuance that took place in Apri l  2022. As  at 31 December 2022 i ts
balance was £2,138,000 (2021: £ni l ). See Note 15 for further information.

Non-Controlling Interest
The non-control l ing interest relates  to the minori ty interest held in Bandana Media Limited, Playstack OY, Vertus  Capital
Limited, Vertus  SPV1 Limited, Satago Financial  Solutions  Limited, Satago SPV1 Limited, Satago SPV2 Limited, Altlending
Limited and Satago z.o.o

COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
 

 

Share capital
£'000

  
Retained
earnings

£'000

  

Other reserves
£'000

  

Total equity
£'000



£'000 £'000 £'000

Balance at 1 January 2022 73,548  (5,504)  8,966  77,010
Total  comprehensive loss  for the year - (42) - (42)
Issuance of shares 12,158 (496) (2,138) 9,524

Balance at 31 December 2022 85,706  (6,042)  6,828  86,492

        

Balance at 1 January 2021 73,548  (5,165)  8,966  77,349

Total  comprehensive loss  for the year -  (409)  -  (409)

Share based payment -  70  -  70

Balance at 31 December 2021 73,548  (5,504)  8,966  77,010
 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
 

 

  

 
2022

£'000

  
2021

£'000

Cash flows from operating activities

Loss  before tax (8,020) (8,422)

Adjustments  for

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 108 96

Amortisation of intangible assets 2,377 1,571

Share based payments - 70

Finance costs 974 659

Share of profi t from associate (1) (3)

Loss  on disposal  of Fixed Assets - 2

Loss  on intragroup transfer of subs idiary - 2

 
Working capital adjustments

(4,562) (6,025)

Movement in Loans  and advances (8,029) (1,472)

Increase in trade and other receivables (34) (720)

Increase/(Decrease) in trade and other payables 60 (1,735)

Net payables  on acquis i tion of subs idiary (67) -

(8,070) (3,927)

Tax credit received/(paid) 668 (2)
Interest and finance costs  paid  (777)  (716)

Net cash used in operating activities (12,741) (10,670)

Cash flows from investing activities:
Additions  to intangible assets  (3,159)  (1,779)

Additions  to property, plant and equipment  (113)  (24)

Acquis i tion of subs idiaries  (1,217)  -

Cash on acquis i tion of subs idiary  19  -

Net cash used in investing activities (4,470) (1,803)

Cash flows from financing activities:

Issue of ordinary share capital  9,524  -
Issue of ordinary share capital  of subs idiary  5,000  148
Net borrowings 16 5,370  2,353
Lease payments (28) (99)

Net cash generated from financing activities 19,866 2,402

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  2,655  (10,071)

Cash and cash equivalents  at beginning of the year  7,608  17,728

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes  10  (49)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 10,273 7,608

     

COMPANY STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
 

 
2022

£'000

  
2021

£'000

Cash flows from operating activities

Loss  before income tax (42) (409)

Adjustments  for:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 2 -



Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 2 -

Interest income (2,166) (2,008)

Share based payments - 70

 
Working capital adjustments

(2,206)  (2,347)

Decrease in trade and other receivables 6 513

Decrease in trade and other payables (94) (114)

(88)  399

Net cash generated used in operating activities (2,294)  (1,948)

Cash flows from investing activities
   

Intragroup loans  cash (advanced)/received (5,750) 2,156

Additions  to property, plant and equipment (6) -

Net cash generated (used in)/from investing activities (5,756)  2,156

    

Cash flows from financing activities    

Issue of ordinary share capital 9,524 -

Net cash generated from financing activities 9,524  -

    

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 1,474  208

Cash and cash equivalents  at beginning of the year 786 578

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 2,260  786
 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 

Statutory information
 
TruFin plc i s  a  Company registered in Jersey and incorporated under Companies  (Jersey) Law 1991. The Company's  ordinary
shares  were l i s ted on the Alternative Investment Market of the London Stock Exchange on 21 February 2018. The address  of
the registered office is  26 New Street, St Hel ier, Jersey, JE2 3RA.

1.             Accounting policies

General information

The TruFin Group (the "Group") i s  the consol idation of TruFin plc and the companies  set out in the "Bas is  of consol idation".

The principal  activi ties  of the Group are the provis ion of niche lending, early payment services  and game publ ishing.

The financial  s tatements  are presented in Pounds Sterl ing, which is  the currency of the primary economic environment in
which the Group operates . Amounts  are rounded to the nearest thousand.

Basis of accounting

The consol idated financial  s tatements  have been prepared in accordance with International  Financial  Reporting Standards
as  adopted by the European Union ("IFRS").

Prior to 29 November 2017 and before the incorporation of TruFin plc and TruFin Holdings , the enti ties  named above were
under common control  and therefore, have been accounted for as  a  common control  transaction - that i s  a  bus iness
combination in which al l  the combining enti ties  or bus inesses  are ultimately control led by the same company both before
and after the combination. IFRS 3 provides  no speci fic guidance on accounting for enti ties  under common control  and
therefore other relevant standards  have been cons idered. These standards  refer to pool ing of assets  and merger accounting
and this  i s  the methodology that has  been used to consol idate the Group.

After 29 December 2017, post the reorganisation, the enti ties  consti tute a  legal  group and accordingly the consol idated
financial  s tatements  have been prepared by applying relevant principles  underlying the consol idation procedures  of IFRS.

Basis of preparation

The results  of the Group companies  have been included in the consol idated statement of comprehensive income. Where
necessary, adjustments  have been made to the underlying financial  information of the companies  to bring the accounting
pol icies  used into l ine with those used by the Group. Al l  intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses  are
el iminated on consol idation.

The consol idated financial  s tatements  contained in this  document consol idates  the statements  of total  comprehensive
income, statements  of financial  pos ition, cash flow statements , s tatements  of changes  in equity and related notes  for each
of the companies  l i s ted in the "Bas is  of consol idation" below, which have been prepared in accordance with IFRS.

Non-control l ing interests , presented as  part of equity, represent the portion of a  subs idiary's  profi t or loss  and net assets
that is  not held by the Group. The Group attributes  total  comprehensive income or loss  of subs idiaries  between the owners
of the parent and the non-control l ing interests  based on their respective ownership interests .

Basis of consolidation

The consol idated financial  s tatements  include al l  of the companies  control led by the Group, which are as  fol lows:

 

 
Entities

Country of
incorporation

 
Registered address

Nature of the
business

% voting rights
and shares held



Entities incorporation Registered address business and shares held
TruFi n Hol di ngs  Li mi te d ("THL") Je rs e y 26 Ne w Stre e t, St He l i e r,

Je rs e y JE2 3RA
Hol di ng Compa ny 100% of

ordi na ry s ha re s
Sa ta go Fi na nci a l  Sol uti ons  Li mi te d
("Sa ta go") (toge the r wi th Sa ta go SPV
1, Sa ta go SPV 2 a nd Sa ta go Pol a nd)
("Sa ta go Group")

UK 120 Re ge nt Stre e t, London,
Uni te d Ki ngdom, W1B 5FE

Provi s i on of s hort
te rm fi na nce

72% of ordi na ry
s ha re s *

Sa ta go SPV 1 Li mi te d ("Sa ta go SPV
1")

UK 120 Re ge nt Stre e t, London,
Uni te d Ki ngdom, W1B 5FE

Provi s i on of s hort
te rm fi na nce

72% of ordi na ry
s ha re s *

Sa ta go SPV 2 Li mi te d ("Sa ta go SPV
2")

UK 120 Re ge nt Stre e t, London,
Uni te d Ki ngdom, W1B 5FE

Provi s i on of s hort
te rm fi na nce

72% of ordi na ry
s ha re s *

Sa ta go z.o.o (Sa ta go Pol a nd) Pol a nd 32-023 Kra kow ul . Sw. Krzyza
19/6 Pol a nd

Provi s i on of s hort
te rm fi na nce

72% of ordi na ry
s ha re s *

Oxyge n Fi na nce  Group Li mi te d
("OFGL") (toge the r wi th OFL a nd
OFAI) ("Oxyge n")

UK 1st Fl oor Ente rpri s e  Hous e ,
115 Edmund Stre e t,
Bi rmi ngha m, Uni te d
Ki ngdom, B3 2HJ

Hol di ng Compa ny 88% of ordi na ry
s ha re s **

Oxyge n Fi na nce  Li mi te d ("OFL") UK 1st Fl oor Ente rpri s e  Hous e ,
115 Edmund Stre e t,
Bi rmi ngha m, Uni te d
Ki ngdom, B3 2HJ

Provi s i on of e a rl y
pa yme nt s e rvi ce s

88% of ordi na ry
s ha re s **

Oxyge n Fi na nce  Ame ri ca s , Inc
("OFAI")

USA Corpora ti on Trus t Ce nte r,
1209 Ora nge  Stre e t, Ci ty of
Wi l mi ngton, County of Ne w
Ca s tl e , De l a wa re  19801,
USA

Provi s i on of e a rl y
pa yme nt s e rvi ce s

88% of ordi na ry
s ha re s **

TruFi n Softwa re  Li mi te d ("TSL") UK 120 Re ge nt Stre e t, London,
Uni te d Ki ngdom, W1B 5FE

Provi s i on
of
te chnol ogy
s e rvi ce s

100% of
ordi na ry s ha re s

Al tLe ndi ng UK Li mi te d ("Al tLe ndi ng") UK 120 Re ge nt Stre e t, London,
Uni te d Ki ngdom, W1B 5FE

Provi s i on of s hort
te rm fi na nce

100% of
ordi na ry
s ha re s *

Ve rtus  Ca pi ta l  Li mi te d ("Ve rtus
Ca pi ta l ") (toge the r wi th Ve rtus  SPV 1
Li mi te d) ("Ve rtus ")

UK Bui l di ng 1 Cha l font Pa rk,
Ge rra rds  Cros s , Uni te d
Ki ngdom, SL9 0BG

Provi s i on of s hort
te rm fi na nce

54% of ordi na ry
s ha re s

Ve rtus  Ca pi ta l  SPV 1 Li mi te d
("Ve rtus  SPV 1")

UK Bui l di ng 1 Cha l font Pa rk,
Ge rra rds  Cros s , Uni te d
Ki ngdom, SL9 0BG

Provi s i on of s hort
te rm fi na nce

54% of ordi na ry
s ha re s

Pl a ys ta ck Li mi te d ("Pl a ys ta ck")*** UK 56a  Pol a nd Stre e t, London
Uni te d Ki ngdom, W1F 7NN

Publ i s hi ng of
compute r ga me s

100% of
ordi na ry s ha re s

Ba nda na  Me di a  Li mi te d
("Ba nda na ")***

UK 56a  Pol a nd Stre e t, London
Uni te d Ki ngdom, W1F 7NN

Publ i s hi ng of
compute r ga me s

72% of ordi na ry
s ha re s

Pl a yIgni te  Ltd ("Pl a yIgni te ")*** UK 56a  Pol a nd Stre e t, London
Uni te d Ki ngdom, W1F 7NN

Bus i ne s s  a nd
dome s ti c
s oftwa re
de ve l ope r

100% of
ordi na ry s ha re s

Pl a ys ta ck z.o.o ("PS Pol a nd") *** Pol a nd Ka mi e nna  21, 31-403
Kra kow, Pol a nd

Publ i s hi ng
a cti vi ti e s  i n the
fi e l d of compute r
ga me s

100% of
ordi na ry s ha re s

Pl a ys ta ck OY ("PS Fi nl a nd")*** Fi nl a nd Mi konka tu 17 B, 00100
He l s i nki , Fi nl a nd

Publ i s hi ng
a cti vi ti e s  i n the
fi e l d of compute r
ga me s

75% of ordi na ry
s ha re s

Pl a ys ta ck AB ("PS Swe de n")*** Swe de n Sol be rga vä ge n 17, 17998
Fä re ntuna , Swe de n

De ve l opi ng,
publ i s hi ng a nd
s e l l i ng e l e ctroni c
ga me s

100% of
ordi na ry s ha re s

Pl a ys ta ck Inc ("Pl a ys ta ck USA")*** USA Gus t De l a wa re , 16192
Coa s ta l  Hwy, Le we s , DE
19958

Publ i s hi ng of
compute r ga me s

100% of
ordi na ry s ha re s

Pl a yIgni te  Inc ("Pl a yIgni te  USA")*** USA Coge ncy Gl oba l  Inc, 850
Ne w Burton Roa d, Sui te
201, Dove r DE 19904

Bus i ne s s  a nd
dome s ti c
s oftwa re
de ve l ope r

100% of
ordi na ry s ha re s

Ma gi c Fue l  Inc ("Ma gi c Fue l ") USA 5424 Sunol  Bl vd Ste  10 PMB
1021, Pl e a s a nton, CA 94566-
7705

Ga me  de ve l ope r 100% of
ordi na ry s ha re s

*See Note 19 for the Group's  effective economic ownership of the Satago Group.

** Nominal  ownership of these companies  is  87.5% due to the Oxygen Management Incentive Plan ("Oxygen MIP"). Effective
economic ownership is  100% based on their Statements  of Financial  Pos ition at the Reporting Date.

*** The Playstack Group includes  4 associate companies  incorporated in the UK which have been accounted for us ing the
equity method. These are:

·    A 49% interest in PlayFinder Games Ltd

·    A 49% interest in Snackbox Games Ltd

·    A 42% interest in Mi l i tary Games International  Ltd (appl ication to strike off made on 23 January 2023)

·    A 27% interest in Storm Chaser Games Limited ("Storm Chaser Games")

On 22 March 2022, Porge Ltd, a  company 100% owned by OFGL was dissolved.

Principal accounting policies



Principal accounting policies

The principal  accounting pol icies  adopted in the preparation of the financial  s tatements  are set out below. These pol icies
have been appl ied cons istently to a l l  the financial  periods  presented.

The consol idated financial  s tatements  have been prepared in accordance with European Union Endorsed International
Financial  Reporting Standards  (IFRSs) and the IFRS Interpretations  Committee (formerly the International  Financial
Reporting Interpretations  Committee (IFRIC)) interpretations. These statements  have been prepared on a going concern
bas is  and under the historical  cost convention except for the treatment of certain financial  instruments .

Going concern

The Group's  forecasts  and projections, taking into account reasonable poss ible changes  in trading performance, show that
the Group should be able to operate in the foreseeable future. As  a  consequence, the Directors  have a reasonable
expectation that the Group wi l l  have adequate resources  to continue in operational  existence for the foreseeable future.
Accordingly, the Directors  have adopted the going concern bas is  in preparing these financial  s tatements .

Revenue recognition

Net revenue

Interest income and expense

Interest income and expense for a l l  financial  instruments  except for those class i fied as  held for trading or measured or
des ignated as  at Fair Value Through Profi t and Loss  ("FVTPL") are recognised in "Net revenue" as  "Interest income" and
"Interest, fee and publ ishing expenses" in the profi t or loss  account us ing the effective interest method.

The Effective Interest Rate ("EIR") i s  the rate that exactly discounts  estimated future cash flows of the financial  instrument
through the expected l i fe of the financial  instrument or, where appropriate, a  shorter period, to the net carrying amount of
the financial  asset or financial  l iabi l i ty. The future cash flows are estimated taking into account a l l  the contractual  terms
of the instrument.

The calculation of the EIR includes  a l l  fees  and points  paid or received between parties  to the contract that are incremental
and directly attributable to the speci fic lending arrangement, transaction costs  and al l  other premiums or discounts .

The interest income/expense is  calculated by applying the EIR to the gross  carrying amount of non-credit impaired
financial  assets  (that i s , to the amortised cost of the financial  asset before adjusting for any expected credit loss
al lowance), or to the amortised cost of financial  l iabi l i ties .

For credit-impaired financial  assets , as  defined in the financial  instruments  accounting pol icy, the interest income is
calculated by applying the EIR to the amortised cost of the credit-impaired financial  assets , that i s , to the gross  carrying
amount less  the al lowance for Expected Credit Losses  ("ECLs").

Fee income

Fee income for the Group is  earned from payments  services  fees  provided by Oxygen and subscription fees  from Oxygen
and Satago.

Payment services  provided by Oxygen comprises  the fol lowing elements:

Early Payment Programme Services ("EPPS") contracts

Oxygen's  EPPS generate rebates  (i .e. discounts  on invoice value) for i ts  cl ients  by faci l i tating the early payment of suppl ier
invoices . Oxygen's  s ingle performance obl igation is  to make i ts  intel lectual  property and software platform avai lable to i ts
cl ients  for the duration of their contracts .

Oxygen bi l l s  i ts  cl ients  monthly for a  contractual ly agreed share of suppl ier rebates  generated by their respective Early
Payment Programmes during the previous  month. This  revenue is  recognised in the month the rebates  are generated.

Implementation fees

Oxygen Implementation fees

Implementation fees  are charged to some cl ients  in establ ishing a  cl ient's  technological  access  to the EPPS and in
otherwise readying a  cl ient to benefi t from the Services . Establ ishing access  to the company's  intel lectual  property and
software platform does  not amount to a  distinct service as  the cl ient cannot benefi t from the ini tia l  access  except by the
company continuing to provide access  for the contract period. Where an implementation fee is  charged, i t i s  therefore a
component of the aggregate transaction price of the EPPS. Accordingly, such revenue is  ini tia l ly deferred and then
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income over the l i fe of the related EPPS.

Satago Implementation fees

Implementation fees  are in l ine with contractual  agreements  and relate to Lending as  a  Service projects .

Consultancy fees

Oxygen provides  stand-alone advisory services  to cl ients . Revenue is  accrued as  the underlying services  are provided to the
cl ient.

Subscription fees

Insight services subscription fees

The Ins ight Services  offered by OFL provide focussed publ ic sector procurement data and analytics  on a subscription bas is .
Cl ients  cover both the private sector, enabl ing them to improve and develop their engagement with the publ ic sector, and
publ ic sector organisations, enabl ing them to make more informed procurement decis ions. Subscriptions  are typical ly
received in advance and recognised over the length of the contract as  access  to the database is  provided.

Satago subscription fees

These are monthly fees  for access  to Satago's  platform. Subscriptions  are received in advance and recognised during the
month the subscription relates  to.

Fee expenses

Fee expenses  are directly attributable costs , associated with the Oxygen's  EPPS. The expenses  include amortisation aris ing
from capital ised contract costs  incurred directly through activi ties  which generate fee income. Amortisation aris ing from
other intangible assets  i s  recognised in depreciation and amortisation of non-financial  assets .



Publishing income

Publ ishing income for the Group is  earned by companies  in the Playstack Group and comprises  the fol lowing elements .
Publ ishing income is  recognised at the fa ir value of cons ideration received or receivable for goods and services  provided
and is  shown net of VAT and any other sales  taxes. The fa ir value takes  into account any trade or volume discounts  and
commiss ion retained.

In App Purchases (IAP) revenue

IAP revenue is  earned on the sale of mobi le games and features  within those games. It i s  recognised when the game or
feature is  sold.

Advertising revenue

Advertis ing revenue is  earnings  from featuring third party advertis ing within mobi le games. It i s  recognised when these
advertisements  are featured within the games.

Console revenue

Console revenue is  earned on the sale of video games for consoles . It i s  recognised when the game is  sold.

Brand revenue

Brand revenue is  when a mobi le game player s igns  up to an advertised brand in a  mobi le game. Revenue is  recognised
when the brand has  confi rmed acquis i tion of the customer.

Publishing expenses

Publ ishing expenses  are directly attributable costs , associated with the Playstack Group's  publ ishing income. These costs
are included at their invoiced value and are net of VAT and any other sales  tax.

Foreign currencies

The results  and financial  pos ition of each group company are expressed in Pounds Sterl ing, which is  the functional
currency of the UK based members  of the Group and the presentation currency for the consol idated financial  s tatements .

Transactions  in foreign currencies  are trans lated to the Group companies ' functional  currency at the foreign exchange rate
rul ing at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets  and l iabi l i ties  denominated in foreign currencies  at the reporting
date are retrans lated to the functional  currency at the foreign exchange rate rul ing at that date. Non-monetary assets  and
l iabi l i ties  that are measured in terms of historical  cost in a  foreign currency are trans lated us ing the exchange rate at the
date of the transaction. Foreign exchange di fferences  aris ing on trans lation are recognised in the consol idated statement
of comprehensive income.

In preparing the consol idated financial  s tatements , the assets  and l iabi l i ties  of the group's  foreign operations  are
trans lated at the exchange rate at the reporting date. Income and expense i tems are trans lated at the average exchange
rates  for the year. Exchange di fferences  aris ing, are recognised in other comprehensive income and are accumulated in the
Foreign exchange reserve equity section.

Property, plant and equipment

Al l  property, plant and equipment is  s tated at historical  cost (or deemed historical  cost) less  accumulated depreciation
and less  any identi fied impairment. Cost includes  the original  purchase price of the asset and the costs  attributable to
bringing the asset to i ts  working condition for i ts  intended use.

Depreciation is  provided on al l  property, plant and equipment at rates  calculated to write each asset down to i ts  estimated
res idual  value on a straight l ine bas is  at the fol lowing annual  rates:

Leasehold improvements - 5 years

Fixtures  and fi ttings - 3 years

Computer equipment - 3 -5 years

Useful  economic l ives  and estimated res idual  values  are reviewed annual ly and adjusted as  appropriate.

Intangible assets

Identi fiable intangible assets  are recognised when the Group controls  the asset, i t i s  probable that future economic
benefi ts  attributed to the asset wi l l  flow to the Group and the cost of the asset can be rel iably measured.

Intangible assets  with fini te l ives  are stated at acquis i tion or development cost less  accumulated amortisation and less
any identi fied impairment. The amortisation period and method is  reviewed at least annual ly. Changes  in the expected
useful  l i fe or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefi ts  embodied in the asset are accounted for by
changing the amortisation period or method, as  appropriate and are treated as  changes  in accounting estimates.

Computer software

Computer software which has  been purchased by the Group from third party vendors  is  measured at ini tia l  cost less
accumulated amortisation and less  accumulated impairments .

Computer software also comprises  internal ly developed platforms and the costs  directly associated with the production of
these identi fiable and unique software products  control led by the Group. They are probable of producing future economic
benefi ts . They primari ly include employee costs  and directly attributable overheads.

Internal ly generated intangible assets  are only recognised by the Group when the recognition cri teria  have been met in
accordance with IAS 38: Intangible Assets  as  fol lows:

·    expenditure can be rel iably measured;

·    the product or process  is  technical ly and commercial ly feas ible;

·    future economic benefi ts  are l ikely to be received;

·    intention and abi l i ty to complete the development; and



·    intention and abi l i ty to complete the development; and

·    view to ei ther use or sel l  the asset in the future.

The Group wi l l  only recognise an internal ly-generated asset should i t meet a l l  the above cri teria. In the event of a
development not meeting the cri teria  i t wi l l  be recognised within the statement of profi t or loss  in the period incurred.

Capital ised costs  include al l  di rectly attributable costs  to the development of the asset. Internal ly generated assets  are
measured at capital ised cost less  accumulated amortisation less  accumulated impairment losses . The internal ly generated
asset i s  amortised at the point the asset i s  avai lable for use or sale. The asset i s  amortised on a straight-l ine bas is  over the
useful  economic l i fe with the remaining useful  economic l i fe and res idual  value being assessed annual ly.

Any subsequent expenditure on the internal ly generated asset i s  only capital ised i f the cost increases  the future economic
benefi ts  of the related asset. Otherwise a l l  additional  expenditure should be recognised through the statement of profi t or
loss  in the period i t occurs .

Contract assets

Contract assets  comprise the directly attributable costs  incurred at the beginning of an Early Payment Scheme Service
contract to revise a  cl ient's  existing payment systems and provide access  to the Group's  software and other intel lectual
property. These implementation (or "set up") costs  are comprised primari ly of employee costs .

Amortisation is  charged to the statement of comprehensive income over the estimated useful  l ives  of intangible assets  from
the date they are avai lable for use, on a straight-l ine bas is . The amortisation bas is  adopted for each class  of intangible
asset reflects  the Group's  consumption of the economic benefi t from that asset.

Estimated useful lives

The estimated useful  l ives  of fini te intangible assets  are as  fol lows:

Computer software - 3 -5 years

Contract assets - Li fe of underlying contract (typical ly 5 years)

Goodwill

Goodwi l l  aris ing on acquis i tion represents  the excess  cost of a  bus iness  combination over the fa ir values  of the Group's
share of the identi fiable assets  and l iabi l i ties  at the date of the acquis i tion. When part of the cons ideration transferred by
the Group is  deferred or contingent, this  i s  valued at i ts  acquis i tion date fa ir value, and is  included in the cons ideration
transferred in a  bus iness  combination. Changes  in the deferred or contingent cons ideration, which occur in the
measurement period, are adjusted retrospectively, with corresponding adjustments  to goodwi l l .

Goodwi l l  i s  not amortised but is  reviewed at least annual ly for impairment. For the purpose of impairment testing,
goodwi l l  i s  a l located to each Cash Generating Unit ("CGU"). Each CGU is  cons istent with the Group's  primary reporting
segment. Any impairment is  recognised immediately through the income statement and is  not subsequently reversed.

On disposal  of a  subs idiary, the attributable amount of goodwi l l  i s  included in the determination of profi t or loss  on
disposal .

Financial instruments

Initial recognition

Financial  assets  and financial  l iabi l i ties  are recognised in the Group's  statement of financial  pos ition when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual  provis ions  of the instrument.

Financial  assets  and financial  l iabi l i ties  are ini tia l ly measured at fa i r value. Transaction costs  that are directly
attributable to the acquis i tion or i ssue of the financial  assets  and financial  l iabi l i ties  (other than financial  assets  and
financial  l iabi l i ties  at FVTPL) are respectively added to or deducted from the fa ir value of the financial  assets  or financial
l iabi l i ties , as  appropriate, on ini tia l  recognition. Transaction costs  that are directly attributable to the acquis i tion of
financial  assets  and financial  l iabi l i ties  at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profi t or loss .

Financial assets

Classification and reclassification of financial assets

Recognised financial  assets  within the scope of IFRS 9 are required to be class i fied as  subsequently measured at amortised
cost, FVTOCI or FVTPL on the bas is  of both the Group's  bus iness  model  for managing the financial  assets  and the
contractual  cash flow characteristics  of the financial  assets .

Financial  assets  are reclass i fied i f and only i f, the bus iness  model  under which they are held is  changed. There has  been no
such change in the al location of assets  to bus iness  models  in the periods  under review.

Loans and advances

Loans  and advances  are held within a  bus iness  model  whose objective is  to hold those financial  assets  in order to col lect
contractual  cash flows. The contractual  terms of the loan agreements  give rise on speci fied dates  to cash flows that are
solely payments  of principal  and interest or fees  on the principal  amount outstanding.

After ini tia l  measurement, loans  and advances  to customers  are subsequently measured at amortised cost us ing the
Effective Interest Rate method (EIR) less  impairment. Amortised cost i s  calculated by taking into account any fees  or costs
that are an integral  part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is  included in interest and s imi lar income in the statement of
comprehensive income. The losses  aris ing from impairment are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income and
disclosed with any other s imi lar losses  within the l ine i tem "Net impairment losses  on financial  assets".

Where cash flows are s igni ficantly di fferent from the original  expectations  used to determine EIR, but where this  di fference
does not arise from a modification of the terms of the financial  instrument, the Group revises  i ts  estimates  of receipts  and
adjusts  the gross  carrying amount of the financial  asset to reflect actual  and revised estimated contractual  cash flows. The
Group recalculates  the gross  carrying amount of the financial  asset as  the present value of the estimated future
contractual  cash flows discounted at the financial  instrument's  original  EIR. The adjustment is  recognised in statement of
comprehensive income as  income or expense.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables  do not contain any s igni ficant financing component and accordingly are recognised ini tia l ly at
transaction price, and subsequently measured at cost less  expected credit losses .

Investments in subsidiaries



Investments  in subs idiaries  are accounted for at cost less  impairment in the Company's  financial  s tatements .

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents  comprise cash balances  and demand deposits  and short term, highly l iquid investments  that
are readi ly convertible to known amounts  of cash and which are subject to an ins igni ficant risk of changes  in value.

Impairment

The Group (and Company) recognises  loss  a l lowances  for Expected Credit Losses  ("ECLs") on the fol lowing financial
instruments  that are not measured at FVTPL:

·    Loans  and advances;

·    Other receivables;

·    Trade receivables; and

·    Intercompany receivables

ECLs  are measured through loss  a l lowances  calculated on the fol lowing bases:

ECLs  are a  probabi l i ty-weighted estimate of the present value of credit losses . These are measured as  the present value of
the di fference between the cash flows due to the Group under the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects  to
receive aris ing from the weighting of future economic scenarios , discounted at the asset's  EIR within the current performing
book.

The Group measures  ECL on an individual  bas is , or on a col lective bas is  for portfol ios  of loans  that share s imi lar credit
risk characteristics . The loss  a l lowance is  measured as  the present value of the di fference between the contractual  cash
flows and cash flows that the Group expects  to receive us ing the asset's  original  EIR, regardless  of whether i t i s  measured
on an individual  bas is  or a  col lective bas is .

A financial  asset that gives  rise to credit risk, i s  referred to (and analysed in the notes  to this  financial  information) as
being in "Stage 1" provided that s ince ini tia l  recognition (or s ince the previous  reporting date) there has  not been a
s igni ficant increase in credit risk, nor has  i t has  become credit impaired.

For a  Stage 1 asset, the loss  a l lowance is  the "12-month ECL", that i s , the ECL that results  from those default events  on the
financial  instrument that are poss ible within 12 months  from the reporting date.

A financial  asset that gives  rise to credit risk i s  referred to (and analysed in the notes  to this  financial  information) as
being in "Stage 2" i f s ince ini tia l  recognition there has  been a s igni ficant increase in credit risk but i t i s  not credit impaired.

For a  Stage 2 asset, the loss  a l lowance is  the "l i fetime ECL", that i s , the ECL that results  from al l  poss ible default events  over
the l i fe of the financial  instrument.

A financial  asset that gives  rise to credit risk i s  referred to (and analysed in the notes  to this  financial  information) as
being in "Stage 3" i f s ince ini tia l  recognition i t has  become credit impaired.

For a  Stage 3 asset, the loss  a l lowance is  the di fference between the asset's  gross  carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial  asset's  original  EIR. Further, the recognition of interest income is
calculated on the carrying amount net of impairment rather than the gross  carrying amount as  for stage 1 and stage 2
assets .

If ci rcumstances  change sufficiently at subsequent reporting dates , an asset i s  referred to by i ts  newly appropriate Stage
and is  re-analysed in the notes  to the financial  information.

Where an asset i s  expected to mature in 12 months  or less , the "12 month ECL" and the "l i fetime ECL" have the same
effective meaning and accordingly for such assets  the calculated loss  a l lowance wi l l  be the same whether such an asset i s
at Stage 1 or Stage 2. However, the Group monitors  s igni ficant increase in credit risk for a l l  assets  so that i t can accurately
disclose Stage 1 and Stage 2 assets  at each reporting date.

Li fetime ECLs  are recognised for a l l  trade receivables  us ing the s impl i fied approach.

Significant increase in credit risk - policies and procedures for identifying Stage 2 assets

The Group compares  the risk of a  default occurring on the financial  instrument as  at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial  instrument as  at the date of ini tia l  recognition in order to determine whether credit risk
has  increased s igni ficantly.

See Note 18 for further detai ls  about how the Group assesses  increases  in s igni ficant credit risk.

Definition of a default

Critical  to the determination of s igni ficant increases  in credit risk (and to the determination of ECLs) i s  the defini tion of
default. Default i s  a  component of the Probabi l i ty of Default ("PD"), changes  in which lead to the identi fication of a
s igni ficant increase in credit risk and PD is  then a factor in the measurement of ECLs .

The Group's  defini tion of default for this  purpose is :

·    a  counterparty defaults  on a payment due under a  loan agreement and that payment is  more than 90 days  overdue,

or

·    within the core invoice finance proposition, where one or more individual  finance repayments  are beyond 90 days

overdue, management judgement is  appl ied in cons idering default status  of the cl ient.

·    the col lateral  that secures , a l l  or in part, the loan agreement has  been sold or i s  otherwise not avai lable for sale

and the proceeds have not been paid to the lending company; or

·    a  counterparty commits  an event of default under the terms and conditions  of the loan agreement which leads  the

lending company to bel ieve that the borrower's  abi l i ty to meet i ts  credit obl igations  to the lending company is  in

doubt.



The defini tion of default i s  s imi larly cri tical  in the determination of whether an asset i s  credit-impaired (as  explained
below).

Credit-impaired financial assets - policies and procedures for identifying Stage 3 assets

A financial  asset i s  credit-impaired when one or more events  that have a detrimental  impact on the estimated future cash
flows of the financial  asset have occurred. IFRS 9 states  that evidence of credit-impairment includes  observable data about
the fol lowing events :

·    Signi ficant financial  di fficulty of the borrower;

·    A breach of contract such as  a  default (as  defined above) or past due event, or

·    The Group, for economic or contractual  reasons  relating to the borrower's  financial  di fficulty, having granted to the

borrower a  concess ion that the Group would not otherwise cons ider.

The Group assesses  whether debt instruments  that are financial  assets  measured at amortised cost or at FVTOCI are credit-
impaired at each reporting date. When assess ing whether there is  evidence of credit- impairment, the Group takes  into
account both qual i tative and quanti tative indicators  relating to both the borrower and to the asset. The information
assessed depends on the borrower and the type of the asset. It may not be poss ible to identi fy a  s ingle discrete event -
instead, the combined effect of several  events  may have caused financial  assets  to become credit-impaired.

See Note 18 for further detai ls  about how the Group identi fies  credit-impaired assets .

Presentation of allowance for ECL in the statement of financial position

Loss  a l lowances  for ECL are presented in the statement of financial  pos ition as  fol lows:

·    For financial  assets  measured at amortised cost: as  a  deduction from the gross  carrying amount of the assets ;

·    For loan commitments: as  a  provis ion; and

·    For debt instruments  measured at FVTOCI: no loss  a l lowance is  recognised in the statement of financial  pos ition as

the carrying amount is  at fa i r value. However, the loss  a l lowance is  included as  part of the revaluation amount in

the investment revaluation reserve.

Modification of financial assets

A modification of a  financial  asset occurs  when the contractual  terms governing a  financial  asset are renegotiated without
the original  contract being replaced and derecognised and:

·    The gross  carrying amount of the asset i s  recalculated and a modification gain or loss  i s  recognised in profi t or

loss ;

·    Any fees  charged are added to the asset and amortised over the new expected l i fe of the asset; and

·    The asset i s  individual ly assessed to determine whether there has  been a s igni ficant increase in credit risk.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial  asset (or, where appl icable, a  part of a  financial  asset or part of a  group of s imi lar financial  assets) i s
derecognised when the rights  to receive cash flows from the asset have expired. The Group also derecognises  the assets  i f i t
has  both transferred the asset and the transfer qual i fies  for derecognition.

A transfer only qual i fies  for derecognition i f ei ther

·    The Group has  transferred substantia l ly a l l  the risks  and rewards  of the asset; or

·    The Group has  neither transferred nor retained substantia l ly a l l  the risks  and rewards  of the asset but has

transferred control  of the asset.

Write offs

Loans  and advances  are written off when the Group has  no reasonable expectation of recovering the financial  asset (ei ther
in i ts  enti rety or a  portion of i t). This  i s  the case when the Group determines  that the borrower does  not have assets  or
sources  of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts  subject to the write-off. A write-off
consti tutes  a  derecognition event. The Group may apply enforcement activi ties  to financial  assets  written off. Recoveries
resulting from the Group's  enforcement activi ties  wi l l  result in impairment gains .

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities and equity

Debt and equity instruments  that are issued are class i fied as  ei ther financial  l iabi l i ties  or as  equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual  arrangement.

A financial  l iabi l i ty i s  a  contractual  obl igation to del iver cash or another financial  asset or to exchange financial  assets  or
financial  l iabi l i ties  with another enti ty under conditions  that are potentia l ly unfavourable to the Group or a  non-derivative
contract that wi l l  or may be settled in a  variable number of the Group's  own equity instruments , or a  derivative contract
over own equity that wi l l  or may be settled other than by the exchange of a  fixed amount of cash (or another financial
asset) for a  fixed number of the Group's  own equity instruments .

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is  any contract that evidences  a  res idual  interest in the assets  of an enti ty after deducting a l l  of i ts
l iabi l i ties . Equity instruments  issued by the Group are recognised as  at the proceeds received, net of direct i ssue costs .



l iabi l i ties . Equity instruments  issued by the Group are recognised as  at the proceeds received, net of direct i ssue costs .
Distributions  on equity instruments  are recognised directly in equity.

Financial liabilities

Financial  l iabi l i ties  are class i fied as  ei ther financial  l iabi l i ties  at FVTPL or other financial  l iabi l i ties .

Financial liabilities at Fair Value through Profit or Loss

Financial  l iabi l i ties  at FVTPL may include financial  l iabi l i ties  held for trading. Financial  l iabi l i ties  are class i fied as  held
for trading i f they are acquired for the purpose of sel l ing in the near term.

During the period under review the Group has  held no financial  l iabi l i ties  for trading, nor des ignated any financial
l iabi l i ties  upon ini tia l  recognition as  at fa i r value through profi t or loss .

Other financial liabilities

Interest bearing borrowings  are measured at amortised cost us ing the effective interest rate method. Gains  and losses  are
recognised in the income statement when the l iabi l i ties  are derecognised as  wel l  as  through the effective interest rate
method (EIR). Amortised cost i s  calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquis i tion and fees  or costs
that are an integral  part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is  included in "Interest and fee expenses" in the profi t and loss
account.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises  financial  l iabi l i ties  when and only when, the Group's  obl igations  are discharged, cancel led or they
expire.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts  of the enti ty's  non-financial  assets , other than goodwi l l  and deferred tax assets , are reviewed at each
reporting date to determine whether there is  any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists , then the asset's
recoverable amount is  estimated. The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is  the greater of i ts  value in use and i ts  fa i r
value less  costs  to sel l . In assess ing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
us ing a  pre-tax discount rate that reflects  current market assessments  of the time value of money and the risks  speci fic to
the asset.

For the purposes  of impairment testing, assets  that cannot be tested individual ly are grouped together into the smal lest
group of assets  that generates  cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other
assets  or groups of assets  (the CGU).

Contract assets  are reviewed for impairment based on the performance of the underlying contract.

Goodwi l l  i s  tested annual ly for impairment in accordance with IFRS. The goodwi l l  acquired in a  bus iness  combination, for
the purpose of impairment testing is  a l located to CGU that are expected to benefi t from the synergies  of the combination.
For the purpose of goodwi l l  impairment testing, i f goodwi l l  cannot be al located to individual  CGUs or groups of CGUs on a
non-arbitrary bas is , the impairment of goodwi l l  i s  determined us ing the recoverable amount of the acquired enti ty in i ts
entirety, or i f the acquired enti ty has  been integrated then the entire group of enti ties  into which i t has  been integrated.

An impairment loss  i s  recognised i f the carrying amount of an asset or i ts  CGU exceeds i ts  estimated recoverable amount.
Impairment losses  are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. Impairment losses  recognised in respect of
CGUs are a l located fi rst to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwi l l  a l located to the units  and then to reduce the
carrying amounts  of other assets  in the unit (or group of units ) on a pro rata bas is .

An impairment loss  i s  reversed i f and only i f the reasons  for the impairment have ceased to apply. An impairment loss
recognised for goodwi l l  i s  not reversed.

Impairment losses  recognised in prior periods  are assessed at each reporting date for any indication that the loss  has
decreased or no longer exists . An impairment loss  i s  reversed only to the extent that the asset's  carrying amount does  not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, i f no impairment loss
had been recognised.

Current and deferred income tax

Income tax on the result for the period comprises  current and deferred income tax. Income tax is  recognised in the
consol idated statement of comprehensive income except to the extent that i t relates  to i tems recognised directly in equity,
in which case i t i s  recognised in equity.

Current tax is  the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income for the period, us ing tax rates  enacted or
substantively enacted at the reporting date and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous  periods.

Deferred tax is  provided us ing the balance sheet l iabi l i ty method, providing for temporary di fferences  between the carrying
amounts  of assets  and l iabi l i ties  for financial  reporting purposes  and the amounts  used for taxation purposes. The amount
of deferred tax provided is  based on the expected manner of real isation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets  and
l iabi l i ties , us ing tax rates  enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets  i s  reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that i t i s  no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profi ts  wi l l  be avai lable to a l low al l  or part of the asset to be recovered. Deferred tax
assets  and l iabi l i ties  are offset when there is  a  legal ly enforceable right to set off current tax assets  against current tax
l iabi l i ties  and when they relate to income taxes  levied by the same taxation authori ty and the Group intends to settle i ts
current tax assets  and l iabi l i ties  on a net bas is .

Employee benefits - pension costs

A defined contribution plan is  a  post-employment benefi t plan under which the Group pays  fixed contributions  into a
separate enti ty and wi l l  have a legal  or constructive obl igation to pay further amounts . Contributions  to defined
contribution schemes are charged to the statement of comprehensive income as  they become payable in accordance with
the rules  of the scheme. Di fferences  between contributions  payable in the year and contributions  actual ly paid are shown
as ei ther accruals  or prepayments  in the statement of financial  pos ition.

Merger reserve

Prior to 29 December 2017, the enti ties  within the Group were held by Arrowgrass  Master Fund Limited. On 29 December
2017, these enti ties  were acquired by TruFin plc via  TruFin Holdings  Limited. The cons ideration provided to Arrowgrass  for
the companies  acquired was in exchange for shares  of TruFin plc based on the fa ir value of the underlying companies .
Upon consol idation of the group, the di fference between the book value of the enti ties  and the amount of the cons ideration
paid was accounted through a merger reserve, in accordance with relevant accounting standards  relating to bus inesses
under common control .

Investments in associates



Associates  are enti ties  in which the Group has  between 20% and 50% of the voting rights , or i s  otherwise able to exercise
s igni ficant influence, but which i t does  not control  or jointly control . Investments  in associates  are accounted for under the
equity method and are ini tia l ly recognised at costs , including goodwi l l . Subsequent changes  in the carrying value reflect
the post-acquis i tion changes  in the Group's  share of net assets  of the associate. The Group's  share of i ts  associates  profi ts
or losses  is  recognised in the consol idated income statement. However, when the Group's  share of losses  in an associate
equals  or exceeds i ts  interest in the associate, the Group does  not recognise further losses , unless  the Group is  obl iged to
make further payments  to, or on behalf of the associate.

Segmental reporting

An operating segment is  a  component of the Group that engages  in bus iness  activi ties  from which i t may earn revenues and
incur expenses  (including revenues and expenses  relating to transactions  with other components  of the same enti ty) and
whose operating results  are regularly reviewed by the Board of Directors  in order to make decis ions  about resources  to be
al located to that component and assess  i ts  performance and for which discrete financial  information is  avai lable.

For the purposes  of the financial  s tatements , the Directors  cons ider the Group's  operations  to be made up of four operating
segments: the provis ion of short term finance, payment services , publ ishing and other operations.

The accounting pol icies  of the reportable segments  are cons istent with the accounting pol icies  of the Group as  a  whole.

Further detai ls  are provided in Note 4.

Share based payments

Where the Group engages  in share-based payment transactions  in respect of services  received from certain of i ts
employees, these are accounted for as  equity-settled share-based payments  in accordance with IFRS 2 'Share-based
payments '. The equity is  in the form of ordinary shares.

The grant date fa ir value of a  share-based payment transaction is  recognised as  an employee expense, with a
corresponding increase in equity over the period that the employees  become unconditional ly enti tled to the awards. In the
absence of market prices , the fa ir value of the equity at the date of the grant is  estimated us ing an appropriate valuation
technique

The amount recognised as  an expense is  adjusted to reflect the actual  number of awards  for which the related services  and
non-market vesting conditions  are expected to be met such that the amount ultimately recognised as  an expense is  based
on the number of awards  that do meet the related service and non-market performance conditions  at the vesting date.

For share-based payment awards  with market performance conditions  the grant date fa ir value of the award is  measured to
reflect such conditions  and there is  no true-up for di fferences  between expected and actual  outcomes.

Refer to Note 6 for the amounts  disclosed.

Leases

At the inception of a  contract, the Group assesses  i f the contract contains  a  lease. A contract contains  a  lease i f the
contract conveys  the right to control  the use of an identi fied asset for a  period of time in exchange for cons ideration.
Reassessment is  only required when the terms and conditions  of the contract are changed.

Right-of-use assets

The Group recognises  a  right-of-use asset and lease l iabi l i ty at the date which the underlying asset i s  avai lable for use.
Right-of-use assets  are measured at cost which comprises  the ini tia l  measurement of lease l iabi l i ties  adjusted for any
lease payments  made at or before the commencement date and lease incentives  received. Any ini tia l  di rect costs  that would
not have been incurred i f the lease had not been obtained are added to the carrying amount of the right-of-use assets .

These right-of-use assets  are subsequently depreciated us ing the straight-l ine method from the commencement date to the
earl ier of the end of the useful  l i fe of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term.

Right-of-use assets  (except for those which meet the defini tion of an investment property) are presented within "Property,
plant and equipment".

Right of use assets  which meet the defini tion of property, plant and equipment are presented with and accounted for in
accordance the this  pol icy.

Lease liabilities

The ini tia l  measurement of a  lease l iabi l i ty i s  measured at the present value of the lease payments  discounted us ing the
interest rate impl ici t in the lease, i f the rate can be readi ly determined. If that rate cannot be readi ly determined, the
borrower shal l  use i ts  incremental  borrowing rate.

Lease l iabi l i ties  are measured at amortised cost us ing the effective interest method. Lease l iabi l i ties  shal l  be remeasured
when:

·    There is  a  change in future lease payments  aris ing from changes  in an index or rate;

·    There is  a  change in the Group's  assessment of whether i t wi l l  exercise an extens ion option; or

·    There is  a  modification in the scope or the cons ideration of the lease that was  not part of the original  term.

Lease l iabi l i ties  are remeasured with a  corresponding adjustment to the right-of-use asset, or i s  recorded in profi t or loss  i f
the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has  been reduced to zero.

Short term and low value leases

The Group has  elected to not recognise right-of-use assets  and lease l iabi l i ties  for short-term leases  that have lease terms
of 12 months  or less  and leases  of low value leases. Lease payments  relating to these leases  are expensed to profi t or loss
on a straight-l ine bas is  over the lease term.

Government grants

Government grants  are not recognised unti l  there is  reasonable assurance that the Group wi l l  comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants  wi l l  be received.

Government grants  that are receivable as  compensation for expenses  or losses  a lready incurred or for the purpose of
giving immediate financial  support to the Group with no future related costs  are recognised in profi t or loss  in the period
in which they become receivable. These grants  are deducted from the expense that the grant is  related to.



in which they become receivable. These grants  are deducted from the expense that the grant is  related to.

2.             Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

The preparation of financial  information in accordance with IFRS requires  management to make judgements , estimates  and
assumptions  that affect the appl ication of accounting pol icies  and reported amounts  of assets  and l iabi l i ties , income and
expenses.

The estimates  and associated assumptions  are based on historical  experience and various  other factors  that are bel ieved
to be reasonable under the ci rcumstances, the results  of which form the bas is  of making the judgements  about carrying
values  of assets  and l iabi l i ties  that are not readi ly apart from other sources. The estimates  and underlying assumptions
are reviewed on an ongoing bas is . Actual  results  may di ffer from these estimates.

The fol lowing are the cri tical  judgements , apart from those involving estimations  (which are dealt with separately below),
that the directors  have made in the process  of applying the Group's  accounting pol icies  and that have the most s igni ficant
effect on the amounts  recognised in financial  s tatements .

Critical accounting judgements

·    Early Payment Programme Services  set up costs : the Group capital ises  the direct costs  of implementing Early

Payment Programme Services  contracts  for cl ients . These costs  are essentia l  to the satis faction of the Group's

performance obl igation under that contract and accordingly the Group cons iders  that these costs  meet the

appl icable cri teria  for recognition as  contract assets .

The amount capital ised is  disclosed in Note 10.

·    Deferred tax asset: There is  inherent uncertainty in forecasting beyond the immediate future and s igni ficant

judgement is  required to estimate whether future taxable profi ts  are probable in order to uti l i se the carried

forward tax losses . Companies  in the Group have carried forward losses  which wi l l  be uti l i sed against future

taxable profi ts . However, a  deferred tax asset has  not been recognised for these companies , except for Vertus

Capital  Limited as  there is  uncertainty surrounding the timing of when these losses  wi l l  be used.

Refer to Note 9 for more information on the deferred tax asset.

·    The accounts  of the trustee (the "EBT Trustee") of the Company's  Employee Benefi t Trust ("EBT") have not been

consol idated as  i t i s  the Directors ' opinion that the Company does  not have control  over the EBT. The EBT is  a

discretionary trust, which means that the EBT Trustee has  discretion how to act, provided that the action taken by

the EBT Trustee is  cons idered by the EBT Trustee to be in the interest of one of more EBT beneficiaries  (being

employees  and former employees  (and certain of their relatives) of the Company and i ts  subs idiaries .

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions  concerning the future and other key sources  of estimation uncertainty at the reporting period that may
have a s igni ficant risk of caus ing a  materia l  adjustment to the carrying amounts  of assets  and l iabi l i ties  within the next
financial  year are discussed below:

Expected credit losses

·    Where an asset has  a  maturi ty of 12 months  or less , the "12 month ECL" and the "l i fetime ECL" have the same

effective meaning and accordingly for such assets  the calculated loss  a l lowance wi l l  be the same whether such an

asset i s  at stage 1 or stage 2.

·    The Probabi l i ty of Default ("PD") i s  an estimate of the l ikel ihood of default over a  given time horizon and is  a  key

input to the ECL calculation. The Group primari ly uses  credit scores  from credit reference agencies  to calculate the

PD for loans  and advances. The score is  a  12-month predictor of credit fa i lure and, in the absence of internal ly

generated loss  history, the Group bel ieves  that i t provides  the best proxy for the credit qual i ty of the loan

portfol io.

·    Exposure At Default ("EAD") i s  an estimate of the exposure at a  future default date, taking into account expected

changes  in the exposure after the reporting date, including repayments  of principal  and interest, whether

scheduled by contract or otherwise, expected drawdowns on committed faci l i ties  and accrued interest from

missed payments .

·    Loss  Given Default ("LGD") i s  an estimate of the loss  aris ing on default. It i s  based on the di fference between the

contractual  cash flows due and those that the lender would expect to receive, in particular taking into account

wholesale col lateral  values  and certain buy back options.

Note 18 presents  the carrying amounts  of the Expected Credit Losses  in further detai l .

Impairment of Intangibles

The Group is  required to test, whether intangible and tangible assets  have suffered any impairment based on the
recoverable amount of i ts  CGUs, when there are indicators  for impairment.  Determining whether an impairment has
occurred requires  an estimation of the value in use of the CGU to which these assets  are a l located.  Key sources  of
estimation uncertainty in the value in use calculation include the estimation of future cash flows of the CGU affected by
expected changes  in underlying revenues and direct costs , and administration costs  through the forecast period, the long-
term growth rates  and a suitable discount rate to apply to the aforementioned cash flows in order to calculate the net



term growth rates  and a suitable discount rate to apply to the aforementioned cash flows in order to calculate the net
present value.  Further information regarding the assumptions  used in the calculations  have been provided in Note 10.

Measurement of fair values of level 3 instruments

In estimating the fa ir value of a  financial  asset or l iabi l i ty, the Group uses  market observable data to the extent that i t i s
avai lable. Where such level  1 inputs  are not avai lable, the Group uses  valuation models  to estimate the fa ir value of i ts
financial  instruments .

3.             Gross revenue

Group
2022

£'000
 2021

£'000

Revenue

Interest income 2,619 1,681

Total interest income 2,619 1,681

EPPS contracts 3,335 2,536

Consultancy fees 597 436

Implementation fees 1,644 70

Subscription fees 1,607 1,288

Total fee income 7,183  4,330

    

IAP revenue 342  428

Advertis ing revenue 453  378

Console revenue 5,521  6,285

Brand revenue 1  13

Total publishing income 6,317  7,104

    

Gross revenue 16,119  13,115

 

Company
2022

£'000
 2021

£'000

Intercompany interest income 2,166 2,008

Intercompany fee income 118 118

Other interest income 9 -

Gross revenue 2,293 2,126

 

4.             Segmental reporting

The results  of the Group are broken down into segments  based on the products  and services  from which i t derives  i ts
revenue:

Short term finance

Provis ion of distribution finance products  and invoice discounting. For results  during the reporting period, this
corresponds to the results  of Satago, Vertus  and AltLending.

Payment services

Provis ion of Early Payment Programme Services . For results  during the reporting period, this  corresponds to the results  of
Oxygen.

Publishing

Publ ishing of video games. For results  during the reporting period, this  corresponds to the results  of the Playstack Group.

Other

Revenue and costs  aris ing from investment activi ties . For results  during the reporting period, this  corresponds to the
results  of TSL, THL and TruFin plc.

The results  of each segment, prepared us ing accounting pol icies  cons istent with those of the Group as  a  whole, are as
fol lows:

 

 

Year ended 31 December 2022

Short term
finance

£'000

Payment
services

£'000

 
Publishing

£'000

  
Other
£'000

 
Total

£'000

Gross  revenue 4,469 5,311 6,330 9 16,119

Cost of sales (1,153) (889) (3,033) - (5,075)

Net revenue 3,316  4,422  3,297  9  11,044



Adjusted loss  before tax* (3,879) (220) (1,569) (2,352) (8,020)

Loss  before tax (3,879) (220) (1,569) (2,352) (8,020)

Taxation 218 395 601 - 1,214

(Loss)/profi t for the year (3,661) 175 (968)  (2,352) (6,806)
      

Total  assets 34,200 8,258 20,407 2,627 65,492

Total  l iabi l i ties (19,747) (1,792) (2,911) (938) (25,388)

Net assets 14,453 6,466 17,496  1,689 40,104

*a djus te d l os s  be fore  ta x e xcl ude s  s ha re -ba s e d pa yme nt e xpe ns e
  

 

Year ended 31 December 2021

Short term
finance

£'000

Payment
services

£'000

 
Publishing

£'000

  
Other
£'000

 
Total

£'000

Gross  revenue 1,878 4,133 7,104 - 13,115

Cost of sales (832) (873) (4,509) - (6,214)

Net revenue 1,046  3,260  2,595  -  6,901

Adjusted loss  before tax* (3,877) (548) (1,439) (2,488) (8,352)

Loss  before tax (3,877) (548) (1,439) (2,558) (8,422)

Taxation 367 175 444 - 986

Loss  for the year (3,510) (373) (995)  (2,558) (7,436)
      

Total  assets 24,607 8,331 16,774 1,016 50,728

Total  l iabi l i ties (13,341) (1,747) (2,184) (1,005) (18,277)

Net assets 11,266 6,584 14,590  11 32,451

The majori ty of the Group's  activi ties  (98% of revenues) are within the UK, with 2% earned in USA and 0% in Europe.

5.             Staff costs

Analysis of staff costs:

Group  Company

2022
£'000

 2021
£'000

 2022
£'000

 2021
£'000

Wages and salaries 10,365 9,011 1,384 1,440

Consulting costs 379 395 - 19

Social  securi ty costs 1,411 1,409 251 355

Pension costs  aris ing on defined contribution schemes 454 428 38 27

Share based payment - 70 - 70

Government grants - (28) - -

12,609  11,285  1,673  1,911

Consulting costs  are recognised within staff costs  where the work performed would otherwise have been performed by
employees. Consulting costs  aris ing from the performance of other services  are included within other operating expenses.

Average monthly number of persons (including Executive Directors) employed:

2022
Number

 2021
Number

Management 17 16

Finance 10 7

Sales  & marketing 30 23

Operations 78 36

Technology 43 54

178  136

Directors' emoluments
The number of directors  who received share options  during the year was  as  fol lows:

2022
Number

 2021
Number

Long term incentive schemes - -
 

There were no directors  who exercised share options  during the year.

The directors ' aggregate emoluments  in respect of qual i fying services  were:



Salary
 
 

£'000

Bonus
 
 

£'000

Pension
and Benefits

 
£'000

2022
Total

 
£'000

2021
Total

 
£'000

Executive Directors :

J v d Bergh 256 220 9 485 465

256 220 9 485 465

 

Salary
 
 

£'000

Bonus
 
 

£'000

Pension
and Benefits

 
£'000

2022
Total

 
£'000

2021
Total

 
£'000

Non-executive
Directors :

     

S Baldwin 100 - - 100 100
P Judd 70 - - 70 70
P Dentskevich 60 - - 60 50
A Wilhelmsen - - - - -

230 - - 230 220

Key management

The Directors  cons ider that key management personnel  include the Executive Director of TruFin plc. This  individual  has  the
authori ty and responsibi l i ty for planning, directing and control l ing the activi ties  of the Group.

6.             Employee share-based payment transactions

The employment share-based payment charge comprises:

2022
£'000

 2021
£'000

Performance Share Plan and Joint Share Ownership Plan Founder Award - 59

Performance Share Plan Market Value Award - 11

Performance Share Plan 2019 Award - -

Performance Share Plan 2018 Award - -

Total - 70

Performance Share Plan and Joint Share Ownership Plan Founder Award ("Found Award")

The final  25% of Founder Awards  held by James van den Bergh vested on 22 February 2022 when the share price was  £0.81.
As  a  result, 395,558 shares  subject to the Join Share Ownership Plan became ful ly owned by EBT and James' ni l  cost option
under the Performance Share Plan vested in respect of the same number of shares

Performance Share Plan Market Value Award ("PSP Market Value Award")

On 21 February 2018, options  to acquire 4,868,420 shares  were granted to the senior management team. The vesting of this
award is  based on market-based performance conditions. The vesting of these awards  is  subject to the holder remaining an
employee of the Company and the Company's  share price achieving five distinct mi lestones  - vesting at 20% each mi lestone.
The exercise price of the awards  at the time of grant was  £1.90 per share. A Monte Carlo s imulation was used to determine
the fa ir value of these options. The model  used an expected volati l i ty of 10% and a risk free rate of 1.3%.

In order to reflect the impact of the demerger, the PSP Market Value Award was spl i t into two:

·    Part of the award remained as  an option in respect of TruFin shares  ("TruFin Market Value Award")

·    Part of the award became an award in respect of DFC shares  ("DFC market Value Award")

The TruFin Market Value Award is  on the same terms as  the original  PSP Market Value Award except that:

·    The exercise price was  adjusted to £0.85, and the share price mi lestones  were adjusted to reflect the demerger

·    The exercise price was  further adjusted to £0.80 and the share price mi lestones  were further adjusted, to reflect the

return of value to shareholders  in June 2019

·    The exercise price was  further adjusted to £0.71, and the share price mi lestones  were further adjusted to reflect the

return of value to shareholders  in December 2019

The modification has  not resulted in a  change in the valuation of the award and this  continues  to be recognised over the
remainder of the original  vesting period.

Performance Share Plan 2018 Award ("PSP 2018 Award")

The unvested performance conditions  of this  award had not been met at the end of the vesting period.

Performance Share Plan 2019 Award ("PSP 2019 Award")



The performance conditions  of this  award had not been met at the end of the vesting period .

Detai ls  of share based awards  during the year:

JSOP Founder
Award*

 PSP Founder
Award*

 PSP Market
Value

Type of instrument granted Shares (#)  Options (#)  Options (#)

Outstanding at 1 January 2022 395,558 1,566,255 4,868,420

Granted during the year - - -

Vested during the year (395,558) - -

Exercised during the year - - -

Outstanding at 31 December 2022 -  1,566,255  4,868,420

     

Exercisable at 31 December 2022   1,566,255  -

     
*The JSOP Founder Awards  and PSP Founder Awards  wi l l  together del iver, in aggregate, a  maximum of 3,407,895 TruFin
shares.

 
  PSP 2018  PSP 2019

Type of instrument granted   Options (#)  Options (#)

Outstanding at 1 January 2022 263,158 320,000

Granted during the year - -

Vested during the year - -

Exercised during the year - -

Cancel led during the year - -

Outstanding at 31 December 2022   263,158  320,000

     

Exercisable at 31 December 2022   -  -

     
No options  expired during the year.

The weighted average remaining contractual  l i fe for the share options  outstanding as  at 31 December 2022 was 5.21 years
(2021: 6.21 years).

7.             Net impairment loss on financial assets

2022
£'000

 2021
£'000

At 1 January 4 10

Charge for impairment loss 50 (10)

Amounts  written off in the year - 8

Amounts  recovered in the year - (4)

At 31 December 54 4

At 31 December 2022, the Group had an impairment balance of £54,000 which was a l located against loans  and advances.
At 31 December 2021, a l l  of the impairment balance was a l located against loans  and advances.

The net impairment charge on financial  assets  during the year ended 31 December 2022 al l  related to loans  and advances.

The net impairment charge on financial  assets  during the year ended 31 December 2021 al l  related to loans  and advances.

8.             Loss before income tax

Loss  before income tax is  s tated after charging:

2022
£'000

 2021
£'000

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 108 96

Amortisation of intangible assets 2,377 1,571

Staff costs  including share based payments  charge 12,609 11,285

 

 
Fees payable to the Group's auditor (Crowe U.K. LLP)

2022
£'000

 2021
£'000

Fees  payable for the audit of the company's  annual  accounts 82 45

Fees  payable for the audit of the company's  subs idiaries 98 84

Total  audit fees 180  129

 
Non audit services

Other assurance services 14 13

Total  non-audit fees 14  13



Total  non-audit fees 14  13

9.             Taxation

Analysis of tax charge recognised in the period

2022
£'000

 2021
£'000

Current tax credit (1,267) (726)

Deferred tax charge/(credit) 53 (260)

Total  tax credit (1,214)  (986)

Reconciliation of loss before tax to total tax credit recognised

Group
2022
£'000

 2021
£'000

Loss  before tax (8,020) (8,422)

Loss  before tax multipl ied by the standard rate of corporation tax in
the UK of 19% (2021: 19%)

(1,524) (1,600)
Tax effect of:

Expenses  not deductible 15 (223)
Depreciation in excess  of capital  a l lowances 253 395
Capital  a l lowances (318) (187)
Other short term timing di fferences 1 (5)
R&D tax credit (1,274) (733)
Deferred tax not recognised 1,633 1,367
Total  tax charge (1,214)  (986)

 

Company
2022
£'000

 2021
£'000

Loss  before tax (42) (409)

Loss  before tax multipl ied by the standard rate of corporation tax in
the UK of 19% (2021: 19%)

(8) (78)
Tax effect of:

Expenses  not deductible 24 32
Brought forward losses  uti l i sed (15) -
Other short term timing di fferences (1) -
Deferred tax not recognised - 46
Total  tax charge -  -

 

In the Finance Bi l l  2022, the UK government announced that legis lation would be proposed to increase the main rate of
corporation tax to 25% from 1 Apri l  2023, and this  was  substantively enacted on 24 May 2022.

The deferred tax assets  and l iabi l i ties  at 31 December 2022 have been based on the rates  substantively enacted at the
reporting date.

Taxation for other jurisdictions  is  calculated at the rates  prevai l ing in the respective jurisdictions.

Deferred tax asset

 
Group

2022
£'000

 2021
£'000

Balance at start of the year 303 43

(Charge)/credit to the statement of comprehensive income (53) 260

Balance at end of the year 250  303

 
Comprised of:

Losses 250 303

Total  deferred tax asset 250  303

A deferred tax asset from losses  in Vertus  Capital  Limited has  been recognised, and has  been used in the year against
profi ts  in Vertus  Capital  SPV 1 during the year. Unuti l i sed tax losses  in the remainder of the Group as  at the reporting date
were £83,102,000 (2021:£77,124,000).

10.          Intangible assets

 
 

Client
contracts

 
Software

licenses and
similar assets

Separately
identifiable

intangible
Assets

  
 
 

Goodwill

 
 
 

Total
Group £'000 £'000 £'000  £'000 £'000

Cost
5,490 2,579 1,642 15,746 25,457



At 1 January 2022 5,490 2,579 1,642 15,746 25,457

Additions 905 2,254 - - 3,159

On Acquis i tion - 3 1,595 823 2,421

Disposals - (75) - - (75)

Exchange di fferences 4 12 - - 16

At 31 December 2022 6,399 4,773 3,237  16,569 30,978

Amortisation
At 1 January 2022 (1,607) (1,181) (1,070) - (3,858)
Charge (889) (977) (511) - (2,377)

Disposals - 75 - - 75

Exchange di fferences - 1 - - 1

At 31 December 2022 (2,496) (2,082) (1,581)  - (6,159)
Accumulated impairment
losses
At 1 January 2022 (408) - - - (408)

At 31 December 2022 (408) - -  - (408)

 
Net book value

At 31 December 2022 3,495 2,691 1,656  16,569 24,411
At 31 December 2021 3,475 1,398 572 15,746 21,191

 

 
 

Client
contracts

 
Software

licenses and
similar assets

Separately
identifiable

intangible
Assets

  
 
 

Goodwill

 
 
 

Total
Group £'000 £'000 £'000  £'000 £'000

Cost
At 1 January 2021

4,689 1,834 1,642 15,796 23,961
Additions 1,056 757 - (50) 1,763

Disposals (256) - - - (256)

Exchange di fferences 1 (12) - - (11)

At 31 December 2021 5,490 2,579 1,642  15,746 25,457

Amortisation
At 1 January 2021 (956) (814) (742) - (2,512)
Charge (873) (370) (328) - (1,571)

Disposals 222 - - - 222

Exchange di fferences 3 3

At 31 December 2021 (1,607) (1,181) (1,070)  - (3,858)

         

Accumulated impairment
losses
At 1 January 2021 (408) - - - (408)

At 31 December 2021 (408) - -  - (408)

 
Net book value

At 31 December 2021 3,475 1,398 572  15,746 21,191
At 31 December 2020 3,325 1,020 900 15,796 21,041

 

The Company had no intangibles  assets  at the year end.

Cl ient contracts  comprise the directly attributable costs  incurred at the beginning of an Early Payment Scheme Service
contract to revise a  cl ient's  existing payment systems and provide access  to the Group's  software and other intel lectual
property. These implementation costs  are comprised primari ly of employee costs .

The useful  economic l i fe for each individual  asset i s  deemed to be the term of the underlying Cl ient Contract (general ly 5
years) which has  been deemed appropriate and for impairment review purposes, projected cash flows have been
discounted over this  period.

The amortisation charge is  recognised in fee expenses  within the statement of comprehensive income, as  these costs  are
incurred directly through activi ties  which generate fee income.

The Group performed an impairment review at 31 December 2022 and there was no impairment in relation to
underperforming contracts .

Software, l icenses  and s imi lar assets  comprises  separately acquired software, as  wel l  as  costs  directly attributable to
internal ly developed platforms across  the Group. These directly attributable costs  are associated with the production of
identi fiable and unique software products  control led by the Group and are probable of producing future economic
benefi ts . They primari ly include employee costs  and directly attributable overheads.

A useful  economic l i fe of 3 to 5 years  has  been deemed appropriate and for impairment review purposes  projected cash



A useful  economic l i fe of 3 to 5 years  has  been deemed appropriate and for impairment review purposes  projected cash
flows have been discounted over this  period.

The amortisation charge is  recognised in depreciation and amortisation on non-financial  assets  within the statement of
comprehensive income.

The Group performed an impairment review at 31 December 2022 and concluded no impairment was  required.

The 'Software, l icenses  and s imi lar assets ' net book value balance related to internal ly generated intangible assets  at 31
December 2022 was £2,691,000 (2021: £1,398,000 ). This  cons ists  of cost of £4,773,000 (2021: £2,579,000) and
accumulated amortisation of £2,082,000 (2021: £1,181,000 ). During the year there were additions  of £2,254,000 (2021:
£757,000 ) and amortisation of £977,000 (2021: £370,000 ).

Goodwi l l  and "Separately identi fiable intangible assets" arise from acquis i tions  made by the Group.

Porge (now Insight Services within OFL)

Porge was acquired by OFGL in August 2018 and goodwi l l  of £2,759,000 that arose from this  acquis i tion was included
within the payments  services  segment of the Group. Fol lowing the acquis i tion, separately identi fiable intangible assets  of
£1,387,000 primari ly relating to the value of the contracts  in the bus iness  at acquis i tion were recognised. These are being
amortised over 5 years  resulting in an amortisation charge of £277,000 (2021: £277,000) during the year. Net Book value of
these assets  at 31 December 2022 was £162,000 (2021: £439,000). Goodwi l l  related to this  transaction excluding these
assets  at 31 December 2022 was £1,372,000 (2021: £1,372,000).

On 31 August 2020, OFL purchased the Trade and Assets  of Porge. The purchase price was  set at the Net book value of the
assets  acquired at the time of the transaction.

Vertus

In July 2019, the Group converted into ordinary shares  i ts  existing convertible loan with Vertus  Capital  in ful l  satis faction
and discharge of the loan. This , together with a  further cash payment, gave the Group 51% ownership of Vertus  Capital  and
Vertus  SPV 1.

Goodwi l l  of £1,714,000 arose from this  transaction and has  been included within the short term finance segment of the
business . Separately identi fiable intangible assets  of £255,000 primari ly related to the value of existing third party
relationships  on acquis i tion have been identi fied. These are being amortised over 5 years  and the amortisation charge for
the year was  £51,000 (2021: £51,000). Net Book value of these assets  at 31 December 2022 was £81,000 (2021: £132,000).
Goodwi l l  related to this  transaction excluding these assets  at 31 December 2022 was £1,408,000 (2021: £1,408,000).

Playstack

I n September 2019, the Group converted into ordinary shares  i ts  exisMng converMble loans  with P laystack Ltd in ful l
saMsfacMon and discharge of the loans. This  gave the Group ownership of P laystack Ltd and the other companies  within
the Playstack Group.
Goodwi l l  of £12,965,000 arose from this  transaction and has  been included within the publ ishing segment of the bus iness .

Magic Fuel

On 6 June 2022, the Group acquired a 100% equity interest in Magic Fuel  Inc ("Magic Fuel"). Goodwi l l  of £2,417,000 arose
from this  transaction and was included within the publ ishing segment of the bus iness . Fol lowing the acquis i tion ,
separately identi fiable intangible assets  of £1,595,000 relating to the Intel lectual  Property of the Games in development by
Magic Fuel  were recognised. These are being amortised over 5 years  resulting in an amortisation charge of £181,000
during the year. Further detai ls  of the acquis i tion have been included in Note 20. Goodwi l l  related to this  transaction
excluding these assets  at 31 December 2022 was £823,000 (2021: £ni l ).

Impairment testing of intangibles

An impairment review of goodwi l l  was  carried out at the year end.

The ins ight services  segment of OFL was valued us ing the discounted cash flow methodology. Its  net earnings  were
forecasted to 2027, a  discount rate of 10% was used and terminal  growth rate of 2%. This  valuation was greater than the
amount of CGU and therefore the goodwi l l  i s  not deemed to be impaired.

Vertus  was  valued us ing the discounted cash flow methodology. The net earnings  of Vertus  were forecasted to 2027, a
discount rate of 15% was used and terminal  growth rate of 3%. The valuation of Vertus  was  greater than the amount of
goodwi l l  and therefore the goodwi l l  i s  not deemed to be impaired.

Playstack was valued us ing the discounted cash flow methodology. The net earnings  of Playstack were forecasted to 2027,
a discount rate of 20% was used and terminal  growth rate of 3%. Revenue growth was a  key assumption and was based on
Playstack's  pipel ine of games over the forecast period. This  factors  in a  number of key projects  with platforms and
streaming partners . In some instances, revenue projections  have been based on amounts  outl ined in agreed contracts  in
place with customers, whi lst others  have been based on progress ive discuss ions  with customers  and historic sales  for
games of a  s imi lar nature. The valuation of Playstack was greater than the amount of goodwi l l  and therefore the goodwi l l
i s  not deemed to be impaired.

Magic Fuel  was  valued us ing the discounted cash flow methodology. It's  net earnings  a long with revenues earned in the
rest of the group related to this  acquis i tion were forecasted to 2027, a  discount rate of 20% was used and a terminal
growth rate of 3%. The valuation of this  CGU was greater than the value of goodwi l l  and so was deemed not be impaired.

The impairment review of Playstack is  most sens itive to a  change in the planned revenue growth. A 47% reduction in this
growth rate could give rise to an impairment charge.

No other reasonable change in the other assumptions  set out in this  note would result currently in an impairment charge.

11.          Property, plant and equipment

 Fixtures &
fittings

Computer
equipment

Right-of-Use
Asset

  
Total

Group  £'000 £'000 £'000  £'000

Cost
At 1 January 2022 53 78 429 560

Additions 86 27 276 389

Disposals - (9) (429) (438)

At 31 December 2022 139 96 276 511

 
Depreciation
At 1 January 2022  (44) (44) (407)  (495)



Charge (16) (26) (66) (108)

Disposals - 9 429 438

At 31 December 2022 (60) (62) (44) (166)

 
Net book value

      

At 31 December 2022 79 34 232 345

At 31 December 2021  9 34 22  65

 

 Fixtures &
fittings

Computer
equipment

Right-of-Use
Asset

  
Total

Group  £'000 £'000 £'000  £'000

Cost
At 1 January 2021

52
 

60
 

429
 

541
Additions  

 
2  

 
22 - 24

Disposals - (4) - (4)

Exchange di fferences (1) - - (1)

At 31 December 2021  53 78 429  560

 
Depreciation
At 1 January 2021

 
(36)

 
(26)

 
(339)

 
(401)

Charge (8) (20) (68) (96)

Disposals - 2 - 2

At 31 December 2021  (44) (44) (407)  (495)

Net book value
At 31 December 2021  9 34 22  65

At 31 December 2020 16 34 90 140
 

 

 Computer
equipment

Right-of-use
asset

 
Total

Company  £'000 £'000 £'000

Cost
At 1 January 2022

3 167 170
Additions 6 - 6

Disposals - (167) (167)

At 31 December 2022  9 -  9

 
Depreciation
At 1 January 2022

(3)

 
 

(167)

 
 

(170)
Charge (2) - (2)
Disposals 167 167

At 31 December 2022  (5) -  (5)

 
Net book value

At 31 December 2022  4 -  4

At 31 December 2021  - -  -

 

 Computer
equipment

Right-of-use
asset

 
Total

Company  £'000 £'000 £'000

Cost
At 1 January 2021

3 167 170
Additions - - -

At 31 December 2021  3 167  170

   



 
Depreciation
At 1 January 2021

(3)

 
 

(167)

 
 

(170)
Charge - - -

At 31 December 2021  (3) (167)  (170)

 
Net book value

At 31 December 2021  - -  -

At 31 December 2020  - -  -

 

The Right of use assets  in the Group and Company relates  to leases  for office bui ldings .

12.          Investment in subsidiaries

Company £'000
Balance at 1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022 30,189

Balance at 1 January 2021 and 31 December 2021 30,189

13.          Loans and advances

 
Group

2022
£'000

 2021
£'000

Total  loans  and advances 24,215 16,137

Less: loss  a l lowance (54) (4)

24,161  16,133

The aging of loans  and advances  are analysed as  fol lows:

2022
£'000

 2021
£'000

Neither past due nor impaired 23,875 16,062

Past due: 0-30 days 129 32

Past due: 31-60 days 77 10

Past due: 61-90 days 41 28

Past due: more than 91 days 39 1

24,161  16,133

14.          Trade and other receivables

Group  Company

2022
£'000

 2021
£'000

 2022
£'000

 2021
£'000

Trade and other receivables 2,149 2,585 - -

Prepayments 455 467 44 52

Accrued Income 890 385 - -

VAT - - 11 33

Other debtors 2,554 1,988 - 5

Amounts  due from Group
Undertakings

- - 83 54

6,048 5,425 138  144

Trade receivables  above are stated net of a  loss  a l lowance of £ni l  (2021: £ni l ). Al l  receivables  are due within one year.

The aging of trade receivables  is  analysed as  fol lows:

Group  Company

2022
£'000

 2021
£'000

 2022
£'000

 2021
£'000

Not yet due 1,960 2,182 - -

Past due: 0-30 days 117 96 - -

Past due: 31-60 days 6 88 - -

Past due: 61-90 days 9 13 - -

Past due: more than 91 days 57 206 - -

2,149 2,585 - -

15.          Share capital

  



Group and Company

 
Share Capital

£'000

 
Total

£'000
80,822,204 shares  at £0.91 per share 85,706 85,706

 

On 12 Apri l  2022, the Company issued 13,360,739 ordinary shares  through a Placing and an Open Offer. These were issued
at £0.75 per share, ra is ing gross  proceeds of £10,021,000. This  was  a  discount to par value of £2,138,000, which has  been
included in Other Reserves  in the Statement of Changes  of Equity.

Al l  ordinary shares  carry equal  enti tlements  to any distributions  by the Company. No dividends were proposed by the
Directors  for the year ended 31 December 2022.

16.          Borrowings

 
Group

2022
£'000

 2021
£'000

Loans  due within one year 1,783 1,634

Loans due in over one year 16,764 11,351

18,547  12,985

Movements in borrowings during the year
The below table identi fies  the movements  in borrowings  during the year.

 
Group

 
£'000

Balance at 1 January 2022 12,985

Funding drawdown 8,707

Interest expense 852

Fee amortisation 110

Repayments (3,337)

Interest paid (777)

Exchange di fferences 7

Balance at 31 December 2022 18,547
 

 
Group

 
£'000

Balance at 1 January 2021 10,711

Funding drawdown 5,725

Interest expense 528

Origination fees  paid (211)

Fee amortisation 141

Repayments (3,371)

Interest paid (506)

Loan written off (13)

Exchange di fferences (19)

Balance at 31 December 2021 12,985

The primary borrowings  of the Group are comprised of the fol lowing:

·    A 24-month revolving faci l i ty agreement with a  12-month term-out period, maturing in September 2024. Interest i s

payable monthly with the principal  balance rol led over monthly, subject to ongoing compl iance with the

agreement. This  faci l i ty i s  secured by a  debenture over a l l  assets  of Vertus  Capital .

·    Unsecured interest bearing faci l i ty due in 2028, with interest payable quarterly.

·    A revolving credit faci l i ty under which notice is  given by ei ther the lender (3 months) or borrower (6 months).  The

faci l i ty i s  secured by a  fixed and floating charge over Satago SPV1 and interest i s  payable monthly.

The Company had no borrowings  during the period or at year end.

17.          Trade and other payables

Group  Company

2022
£'000

 2021
£'000

 2022
£'000

 2021
£'000

Trade payables 529 380 28 5

Accruals 3,867 3,949 622 670

Other payables 1,636 103 - -

Corporation tax - 9 - -

Other taxation and socia l  securi ty 603 706 284 353



603 706 284 353

VAT 206 145 - -

6,841 5,292 934  1,028

18.          Financial instruments

The Directors  have performed an assessment of the risks  affecting the Group through i ts  use of financial  instruments  and
bel ieve the principal  risks  to be: capital  ri sk; credit risk, and market risk including interest rate risk.

This  note describes  the Group's  objectives , pol icies  and processes  for managing the materia l  ri sks  and the methods used to
measure them. The s igni ficant accounting pol icies  regarding financial  instruments  are disclosed in Note 1.

Capital risk management
The Group manages  i ts  capital  to ensure that enti ties  in the Group wi l l  be able to continue as  going concerns  whi le
providing an adequate return to shareholders .

The capital  s tructure of the Group cons ists  of borrowings  disclosed in Note 16 and equity of the Group (compris ing issued
capital , reserves, retained earnings  and non-control l ing interests  as  disclosed in Note 15 and Note 19).

The Group is  not subject to any external ly imposed capital  requirements .

Principal financial instruments
The principal  financial  instruments  to which the Group is  party and from which financial  instrument risk arises , are as
fol lows:

·    Loans  and advances, primari ly credit risk and l iquidity risk;

·    Trade receivables , primari ly credit risk and l iquidity risk;

·    Investments , primari ly fa i r value or market price risk;

·    Cash and cash equivalents , which can be a source of credit risk but are primari ly l iquid assets  avai lable to further

business  objectives  or to settle l iabi l i ties  as  necessary;

·    Trade and other payables; and

·    Borrowings  which are used as  sources  of funds  and to manage l iquidity risk.

Analysis of financial instruments by valuation model
There are no financial  assets  or l iabi l i ties  included in the statement of financial  pos ition at fa i r value.

31 December 2022
Financial  assets  and financial  l iabi l i ties  included in the statement of financial  pos ition that are not measured at fa i r
value:

 

Group

Carrying
amount

£'000

Fair
value
£'000

 
Level 1

£'000

 
Level 2

£'000

 
Level 3

£'000

 
Financial assets not measured at fair value
Loans  and advances 24,161 24,161 - - 24,161

Trade receivables 2,149 2,149 - - 2,149

Other receivables 3,444 3,444 - - 3,444

Cash and cash equivalents 10,273 10,273 10,273 - -

40,027  40,027  10,273  -  29,754

 
Financial liabilities not measured at fair value

Borrowings 18,547 18,547 - - 18,547

Trade, other payables  and
accruals

6,392 6,392 - - 6,392

 24,939  24,939  -  -  24,939

31 December 2021

 

Group

Carrying
amount

£'000

Fair
value
£'000

 
Level 1

£'000

 
Level 2

£'000

 
Level 3

£'000

 
Financial assets not measured at fair value
Loans  and advances 16,133 16,133 - - 16,133

Trade receivables 2,585 2,585 - - 2,585

Other receivables 2,373 2,373 - - 2,373

Cash and cash equivalents 7,608 7,608 7,608 - -

28,699  28,699  7,608  -  21,091

 



 
Financial liabilities not measured at fair value

Borrowings 12,985 12,985 - - 12,985

Trade, other payables  and
accruals

4,672 4,672 - - 4,672

 17,657  17,657  -  -  17,657

31 December 2022

 

Company

Carrying
amount

£'000

Fair
value
£'000

 
Level 1

£'000

 
Level 2

£'000

 
Level 3

£'000

 
Financial assets not measured at fair value

Amounts  owed by group
undertakings

54,835 54,835 - - 54,835

Other receivables 94 94 - - 94

Cash and cash equivalents 2,260 2,260 2,260 - -

57,189 57,189 2,260 - 54,929

Financial liabilities not measured at fair value
Trade, other payables  and
accruals

934 934 - - 934

934  934 - - 934

31 December 2021

 

Company

Carrying
amount

£'000

Fair
value
£'000

 
Level 1

£'000

 
Level 2

£'000

 
Level 3

£'000

 
Financial assets not measured at fair value

Amounts  owed by group
undertakings

46,919 46,919 - - 46,919

Other receivables 92 92 - - 92

Cash and cash equivalents 786 786 786 - -

47,797 47,797 786 - 47,011

 
Financial liabilities not measured at fair value
Trade, other payables  and
accruals

1,028 1,028 - - 1,028

1,028  1,028 - - 1,028

Fair values  for level  3 assets  and l iabi l i ties  were calculated us ing a  discounted cash flow model  and the Directors  cons ider
that the carrying amounts  of financial  assets  and l iabi l i ties  recorded at amortised cost in the financial  s tatements
approximate to their fa i r values.

Loans and advances

Due to the short-term nature of loans  and advances  and/or expected credit losses  recognised, their carrying value is
cons idered to be approximately equal  to their fa i r value.

Trade and other receivables, borrowings, trade and other payables, and accruals

These represent short term receivables  and payables  and as  such their carrying value is  cons idered to be equal  to their fa i r
value.

Financial risk management

The Group's  activi ties  and the existence of the above financial  instruments  expose i t to a  variety of financial  ri sks .

The Board of Directors  has  overal l  responsibi l i ty for the determination of the Group's  risk management objectives  and
pol icies . The overal l  objective of the Board of Directors  i s  to set pol icies  that seek to reduce ongoing risk as  far as  poss ible
without unduly affecting the Group's  competitiveness  and flexibi l i ty.

The Group is  exposed to the fol lowing financial  ri sks :

·    Credit risk

·    Liquidity risk

·    Market risk

·    Interest rate risk

Further detai ls  regarding these pol icies  are set out below.



Credit risk

Credit risk i s  the risk that a  customer or counterparty wi l l  default on i ts  contractual  obl igations  resulting in financial  loss
to the Group. One of the Group's  main income generating activi ties  i s  lending to customers  and therefore credit risk i s  a
principal  risk. Credit risk mainly arises  from loans  and advances. The Group cons iders  a l l  elements  of credit risk exposure
such as  counterparty default risk, geographical  risk and sector risk for risk management purposes.

Credit risk management

The credit committees  within the wider Group are responsible for managing the credit risk by:

·    Ensuring that i t has  appropriate credit risk practices , including an effective system of internal  control ;

·    Identi fying, assess ing and measuring credit risks  across  the Group from an individual  instrument to a  portfol io

level ;

·    Creating credit pol icies  to protect the Group against the identi fied risks  including the requirements  to obtain

col lateral  from borrowers , to perform robust ongoing credit assessment of borrowers  and to continual ly monitor

exposures  against internal  risk l imits ;

·    Limiting concentrations  of exposure by type of asset, counterparty, industry, credit rating, geographical  location;

·    Establ ishing a  robust control  framework regarding the authorisation structure for the approval  and renewal  of

credit faci l i ties ;

·    Developing and maintaining the risk grading to categorise exposures  according to the degree of risk of default. Risk

grades  are subject to regular reviews; and

·    Developing and maintaining the processes  for measuring Expected Credit Loss  (ECL) including monitoring of credit

risk, incorporation of forward-looking information and the method used to measure ECL.

Significant increase in credit risk

The Group continuously monitors  a l l  assets  subject to Expected Credit Loss  as  to whether there has  been a s igni ficant
increase in credit risk s ince ini tia l  recognition, ei ther through a s igni ficant increase in Probabi l i ty of Default ("PD") or in
Loss  Given Default ("LGD").

The fol lowing is  based on the procedures  adopted by the Group:

Granting of credit

The Bus iness  Development Team prepare a  Risk Summary which sets  out the rationale and the pricing for the proposed loan
faci l i ty and confirms that i t meets  the Group's  product risk and pricing pol icies . The Appl ication wi l l  include the proposed
counterparty's  latest financial  information and any other relevant information but as  a  minimum:

·    Detai ls  of the l imit requirement e.g. product, amount, tenor, repayment plan etc.;

·    Faci l i ty purpose or reason for increase;

·    Counterparty detai ls , background, management, financials  and ratios  (actuals  and forecast);

·    Key risks  and mitigants  for the appl ication;

·    Conditions, covenants  & information (and monitoring proposals) and securi ty (including comments  on valuation);

·    Pricing;

·    Confi rmation that the proposed exposure fa l ls  within risk appeti te; and

·    Clear indication where the appl ication fa l ls  outs ide of risk appeti te.

The Credit Risk Department wi l l  analyse the financial  information, obtain reports  from credit reference agencies , a l locate a
risk rating and make a decis ion on the appl ication. The process  may require further dia logue with the Bus iness
Development Team to ascertain additional  information or clari fication.

Each mandate holder and Committee is  authorised to approve loans  up to agreed financial  l imits  provided that the risk
rating of the counterparty is  within agreed parameters . If the financial  l imit requested is  higher than the credit authori ty of
the fi rst reviewer of the loan faci l i ty request, the appl ication is  sent to the next credit authori ty level  with a
recommendation.

The Executive Risk Committee reviews al l  appl ications  that are outs ide the credit approval  mandate of the mandate holder
due to the financial  l imit requested or i f the risk rating is  outs ide of pol icy but there is  a  rationale and/or mitigation for
cons idering the loan on an exceptional  bas is .

Appl ications  where the counterparty has  a  high risk rating are sent to the Executive Risk Committee for a  decis ion based on
a pos itive recommendation from the Credit Risk department. Where a l imited company has  such a risk rating, the Executive
Risk Committee wi l l  cons ider the fol lowing mitigants :

·    Existing counterparty which has  met a l l  obl igations  in time and in accordance with loan agreements ,

·    Counterparty known to Group personnel  who can confirm pos itive experience,



·    Counterparty known to Group personnel  who can confirm pos itive experience,

·    Additional  securi ty, ei ther tangible or personal  guarantees  where there is  veri fiable evidence of personal  net worth,

·    A commercial  rationale for approving the appl ication, a l though this  mitigant wi l l  general ly be in addition to at

least one of the other mitigants .

Identifying significant increases in credit risk

The Group measures  a  change in a  counterparty's  credit risk mainly on payment, on updated from credit reference agencies
and adverse changes  with a  counterparty's  debtors . The Group views a s igni ficant increase in credit risk as :

·    A two-notch reduction in the Group's  counterparty's  risk rating s ince origination, as  noti fied through the credit

rating agency;

·    A counterparty defaults  on a payment due under a  loan agreement;

·    Late contractual  payments  which al though cured, re-occur on a regular bas is ;

·    Evidence of a  reduction in a  counterparty's  working capital  faci l i ties  which has  had an adverse effect on i ts

l iquidity; or

·    Evidence of actual  or attempted sales  out of trust or of double financing of assets  funded by the Group.

·    Deterioration in the underlying bus iness  (held as  part of the securi ty package) indicated through s igni ficant loss  of

revenue and higher than average cl ient attri tion.

An increase in s igni ficant credit risk i s  identi fied when any of the above events  happen after the date of ini tia l  recognition.

Default

Identifying loans and advances in default and credit impaired

The Group's  defini tion of default for this  purpose is :

·    A counterparty defaults  on a payment due under a  loan agreement and that payment is  overdue on i ts  terms, or

·    The col lateral  that secures , a l l  or in part, the loan agreement has  been sold or i s  otherwise not avai lable for sale

and the proceeds have not been paid to the lending company, or

·    A counterparty commits  an event of default under the terms and conditions  of the loan agreement which leads  the

lending company to bel ieve that the borrower's  abi l i ty to meet i ts  credit obl igations  to the lending company is  in

doubt.

Exposure at default

Exposure at default ("EAD") i s  the expected loan balance at the point of default and, for the purpose of calculating the
Expected Credit Losses  ("ECL"), management have assumed this  to be the balance at the reporting date.

Expected Credit Losses

The ECL on an individual  loan is  based on the credit losses  expected to arise over the l i fe of the loan, being defined as  the
difference between al l  the contractual  cash flows that are due to the Group and the cash flows that i t actual ly expects  to
receive.

This  di fference is  then discounted at the original  effective interest rate on the loan to reflect the disposal  period of
underlying col lateral .

Regardless  of the loan status  stage, the aggregated ECL is  the value that the Group expects  to lose on i ts  current loan book
having assessed each loan individual ly.

To calculate the ECL on a loan, the Group cons iders :

1.    Counterparty PD; and

2.    LGD on the asset

whereby: ECL = EAD x PD x LGD

Maximum exposure to credit risk

Group  Company

2022
£'000

 2021
£'000

 2022
£'000

 2021
£'000

Cash and cash equivalents 10,273 7,608 2,260 786

Loans and advances 24,161 16,133 - -

Amounts  owed by group
undertakings - - 54,835 46,919

Trade and other receivables 5,593 4,958 138 144

Maximum exposure to credit risk 40,027 28,699 57,233 47,849



Maximum exposure to credit risk 40,027 28,699 57,233 47,849

Loans and advances:

Collateral held as security
Group  Company

2022
£'000

 2021
£'000

 2022
£'000

 2021
£'000

Fully collateralised

Loan-to-value* ratio:

Less  than 50% 800 2 - -

50% to 70% 271 83 - -

71% to 80% 500 192 - -

81% to 90% 701 142 - -

91% to 100% - - - -

 2,272 419 - -

 
Partially collateralised

    

Col lateral  value relating to loans
over 100% loan-to-value - - - -
Unsecured lending 21,943 15,718 - -

 

* Ca l cul a te d us i ng whol e s a l e  col l a te ra l  va l ue s

Concentration of credit risk

The Group maintains  pol icies  and procedures  to manage concentrations  of credit at the counterparty level  and industry
level  to achieve a divers i fied loan portfol io.

Credit quality

An analys is  of the Group's  credit risk exposure for loan and advances  per class  of financial  asset, internal  rating and
"stage" is  provided in the fol lowing tables . A description of the meanings  of stages  1, 2 and 3 is  given in the accounting
pol icies  set out in Note 1.

 

Risk rating

 
Stage 1

£'000

 
Stage 2

£'000

 
Stage 3

£'000

2022
Total

£'000

 2021
Total

£'000

Above average (risk
rating 1-2)

11,035 - - 11,035 5,274
Average (risk rating 3-5) 10,615 - - 10,615 10,863
Below average (risk
rating 6+)

1,041 1,481 43 2,565 -
Gross carrying amount 22,691 1,481 43 24,215  16,137
Loss  a l lowance (26) - (28) (54) (4)

Carrying amount 22,665 1,481 15 24,161  16,133

 

Gross Carrying Amount

 
Stage 1

£'000

 
Stage 2

£'000

 
Stage 3

£'000

 
Total

£'000

As at 1 January 2022 16,136 - - 16,136

Transfer to stage 1 (43) - 43 -

Transfer to stage 2 (957) 957 - -

Transfer to stage 3 - - - -

Net Loans  originated 8,079 524 - 8,079

As at 31 December 2022 22,691 1,481 43 24,215

Trade receivables

Status at reporting date

The Group has  assessed the trade and other receivables  in accordance with IFRS 9 and determined that, at the balance
sheet date, the l i fetime ECL is  £ni l  (2021: £ni l ).

The contractual  amount outstanding on financial  assets  that were written off during the reporting period and are sti l l
subject to enforcement activi ty i s  £ni l  at 31 December 2022 (2021: £ni l ).

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk i s  the risk that the Group does  not have sufficient financial  resources  to meet i ts  obl igations  as  they fa l l  due
or wi l l  have to do so at an excess ive cost. This  risk arises  from mismatches  in the timing of cash flows which is  inherent in
al l  banking operations  and can be affected by a  range of Group speci fic and market-wide events .

Liquidity risk management



Liquidity risk management

Group Finance performs treasury management for the Group, with responsibi l i ty for the treasury for each bus iness  enti ty
being delegated to the individual  subs idiaries . However, in l ine with the wider Group governance structure, Group Finance
performs an important overs ight role in the wider treasury cons iderations  of the Group. The primary mechanism for
maintaining this  overs ight i s  a  formal  requirement that subs idiaries ' Finance teams noti fy a l l  materia l  Treasury matters  to
Group Finance.

The main Group responsibi l i ties  are to maintain banking relationships , manage and maximise the efficiency of the Group's
working capital  and long-term funding and ensure ongoing compl iance with banking arrangements . The Group currently
does  not have any offsetting arrangements .

Liquidity stress testing

The Group regularly conducts  l iquidity stress  tests , based on a range of di fferent scenarios  to ensure i t can meet a l l  of i ts
l iabi l i ties  as  they fa l l  due.

 
Maturity analysis for financial assets and financial liabilities

The fol lowing maturi ty analys is  i s  based on expected gross  cash flows.

As at 31 December 2022 Carrying
Amount

£'000

 Less than
1 month

£'000

 1-3
months

£'000

 3 months
to 1 year

£'000

 1-5 years
£'000

 >5 years
 

£'000
Financial Assets            
Cash and cash
equivalents 10,273 10,273

 
-

 
-

 
-

 
-

Trade and other
receivables 5,593 2,660 778 1,717 438 -
Loans  and advances 24,161 2,785 1,020 3,616 15,954 1,249
 40,027  15,718  1,798  5,333  16,392  1,249
            
Financial Liabilities            
Trade payables , other
payables  and accruals 6,392 1,053 3,127 2,009

 
234

 
-

Borrowings 18,547 128 12 79  12,628  5,700
 24,939  1,181  3,139  2,008  12,862  5,700

Market risk

Market risk i s  the risk that movements  in market factors , such as  foreign exchange rates , interest rates , credit spreads,
equity prices  and commodity prices  wi l l  reduce the TruFin Group's  income or the value of i ts  portfol ios .

Market risk management

The TruFin Group's  management objective is  to manage and control  market risk exposures  in order to optimise return on
risk whi le ensuring solvency.

The core market risk management activi ties  are:

·    The identi fication of a l l  key market risk and their drivers ,

·    The independent measurement and evaluation of key market risks  and their drivers ,

·    The use of results  and estimates  as  the bas is  for the TruFin Group's  risk/return-oriented management, and

·    Monitoring risks  and reporting on them.

Interest rate risk management

The TruFin Group is  exposed to the risk of loss  from fluctuations  in the future cash flows or fa i r values  of financial
instruments  because of the change in market interest rates .

Interest rate risk

Interest rates  on loans  and advances  are charged at competitive rates  given current market condition. Should rates
fluctuate, this  wi l l  be reviewed and pricing wi l l  be adjusted accordingly.

Vertus 's  has  interest income that is  variable in relation to the Bank of England base rate, and interest expense variable to
both LIBOR and the Bank of England base rate.

19.          Non-controlling interests

The summarised financial  information below represents  financial  information for each subs idiary that has  non-
control l ing interest that are materia l  to the Group. The amounts  disclosed for each subs idiary are before intragroup
el iminations.

The Group's  ownership share Vertus  Capital  and Vertus  SPV1 at the reporting date was 54% (2021: 54%).

Statement
of Financial
Position

Vertus Capital  Vertus SPV1

 
 

2022
£'000

 2021
£'000

 2022
£'000

 2021
£'000

Current
assets

5,559 5,005 21,718 15,740

Non-current
assets

69 5 - -



assets
Current
l iabi l i ties

(373) 94 (21,725) (15,746)

Equity
attributable
to owners  of
the Company

2,828 2,747 (3) (3)

Non-
control l ing
interests

2,426 2,357 (3) (3)

 

Income
Statement Vertus Capital  Vertus SPV1

 
 

2022
£'000

 2021
£'000

 2022
£'000

 2021
£'000

Revenue 743 522 2,214 1,380

Expenses (593) (343) (2,214) (1,193)

Profi t after
tax

150 86 - 187

Profi t after
tax
attributable
to owners  of
the Company

81 46 - 100

Profi t after
tax
attributable
to the non-
control l ing
interests

69 40 - 87

 

Cash Flow
Statement Vertus Capital  Vertus SPV1

 
 

2022
£'000

 2021
£'000

 2022
£'000

 2021
£'000

Net cash used in
operating activi ties

(385) (520) (5,296) (2,922)

Net cash generated
from investing
activi ties

302 224 - -

Net cash generated
from financing
activi ties

- 488 5,425 2,839

Net
(decrease)/increase
in cash and cash
equivalents

(83) 192 129 (83)

 
Non-
controlling
interest

Vertus Capital  Vertus SPV1

 
 

2022
£'000

 2021
£'000

 2022
£'000

 2021
£'000

Balance at 1
January

2,357 2,220 (3) (95)

Share of
profi t for
the year

69 40 - 87

Change in
NCI due to
share
issuance in
the year

- 97 - 5

Balance at
31
December

2,426
2,357

(3) (3)

The Group had a 72% ownership share of Bandana during the year.

Statement of Financial Position Bandana

 2022
£'000

 2021
£'000

Current assets 1 45

Current l iabi l i ties (5,465) (5,258)

Equity attributable to owners  of the Company (3,955) (3,773)

Non-control l ing interests (1,510) (1,440)

 



 

Income Statement Bandana

2022
£'000

 2021
£'000

Revenue - -

Expenses (251) (981)

Loss  after tax (251) (981)

Loss  after tax attributable to owners  of the Company (182) (710)

Loss  after tax attributable to the non-control l ing interests (69) (271)
 

Cash Flow Statement Bandana

2022
£'000

 2021
£'000

Net cash from operating activi ties - -

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents - -
 

Non-controlling interest Bandana

2022
£'000

 2021
£'000

Balance at 1 January (1,440) (1,169)

Share of loss  for the year (69) (271)

Balance at 31 December (1,509)  (1,440)

The Group's  effective ownership share of Satago Financial  Solutions  Limited ("Satago") at the reporting date is  based on the
net assets  of the Satago Group at the reporting date, and the ownership waterfal l  fol lowing Lloyds  Banking Group's  £5m
investment in Satago in Apri l  2022.

Statement of Financial Position Satago

 2022
£'000

 2021
£'000

Current assets 10,397 1,748

Non-current assets 617 631

Current l iabi l i ties (927) (291)

Equity attributable to owners  of the Company 5,061 1,985

Non-control l ing interests 5,026 103
 

Income Statement Satago

2022
£'000

 2021
£'000

Revenue 1,860 198

Expenses (3,926) (3,284)

Loss  after tax (2,001) (3,086)

Loss  after tax attributable to owners  of the Company 1,910 (2,905)

Loss  after tax attributable to the non-control l ing interests (91) (181)
 

Cash Flow Statement Satago

2022
£'000

 2021
£'000

Net cash used in operating activi ties (3,035) (3,965)

Net cash (used in)/generated from investing activi ties (2,498) 189

Net cash generated from financing activi ties 7,360 2,731

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 1,827 (1,044)
 

Non-controlling interest Satago

2022
£'000

 2021
£'000

Balance at 1 January 103 294

Share of loss  for the year (91) (181)

Aris ing from change in non-control l ing interest 14 (10)

Equity Raise 5,000 -

Balance at 31 December 5,026  103



Balance at 31 December 5,026 103

 

20.          Acquisition of Subsidiaries

Magic Fuel

On 6 June 2022, the Group acquired a 100% equity interest in Magic Fuel  Inc ("Magic Fuel").

Magic Fuel 's  financial  year end date is  31 December 2022. Its  results  have been consol idated from the date of acquis i tion
to 31 December 2022, in l ine with the Group's  financial  year end. The profi t for the period from acquis i tion consol idated in
the Group's  accounts  was  £678,000. Had the acquis i tion taken place on 1 January 2022, the loss  from Magic Fuel
consol idated in the Group would have been £114,000. This  amount includes  transactions  with other Group companies
during the year.

Detai ls  of the cons ideration paid, the assets  acquired and l iabi l i ties  assumed, the non-control l ing interest recognised and
the effects  on the cash flows of the Group, at the acquis i tion, are as  fol lows:

 
£'000

Net l iabi l i ties  at acquis i tion (47)

TruFin share of net l iabi l i ties (47)

Goodwill arising on acquisition

Total  cons ideration 2,371

Less: fa i r value of identi fiable net l iabi l i ties  acquired (47)

2,417

Separately identi fiable intangible assets 1,595

Goodwi l l  net of separately identi fiable intangible assets 822

Consideration satis fied by:

Deferred cons ideration 1,196

Cash 1,175

In accordance with IFRS 3, we have recognised and measured the separately identi fiable intangible assets  acquired as  part
of the transaction. These have been valued at £1,595,000.

21.          Leases

The carrying amounts  of the right-of-use assets  recognised and the movements  during the period are shown in Note 11.

The lease l iabi l i ty and movement during the period were:

Group

   
£'000

Lease l iabi l i ty recognised at 1 January 2022 25

Lease recognised in year 276

Interest 12

Payments (28)

Balance at 31 December 2022 285

 

 

Group

   
£'000

Lease l iabi l i ty recognised at 1 January 2021 120

Interest 3

Payments (99)

Balance at 31 December 2021 25

 

22.          Earnings per share

Earnings  per share is  calculated by dividing the earnings  attributable to ordinary shareholders  by the weighted average
number of ordinary shares  in issue during the year.

The calculation of the bas is  and adjusted earnings  per share is  based on the fol lowing data:

2022
 

 2021
 

Number of shares (#)



Number of shares (#)

At year end 94,182,943 80,822,204

Weighted average 90,485,862 80,822,204

Earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders £'000  £'000

Loss  after tax attributable to the owners  of TruFin plc (6,637) (7,071)

Adjusted earnings  attributable to ordinary shareholders   

Loss  after tax attributable to the owners  of TruFin plc (6,637) (7,071)

Adjusted for share-based payment - 70

Adjusted loss  after tax attributable to the owners  of TruFin plc (6,637) (7,001)

Earnings  per share* Pence Pence

Bas ic and Di luted (7.3) (8.7)

Adjusted1 (7.3) (8.7)

* Al l  Ea rni ngs  pe r s ha re  fi gure s  a re  undi l ute d a nd di l ute d.

Adjus te d1 EPS e xcl ude s  s ha re -ba s e d pa yme nt e xpe ns e  a nd l os s  from di s conti nue d ope ra ti ons  from l os s  a fte r ta x

Management has  been granted 5,451,578 share options  in TruFin plc (see Note 6 for detai ls ). These could potentia l ly di lute
bas ic EPS in the future, but were not included in the calculation of di luted EPS as  they are antidi lutive for the years
presented as  the Group is  loss  making.

23.          Related party disclosures

Transactions with Directors

Transactions  with Directors , or enti ties  in which a Director or recent Director is  a lso a  Director or partner:

2022
£'000

2021
£'000

Consultancy services  provided by an ex-Director - 21

Key management personnel  disclosures  are provided in Notes  5 and 6.

During the year, Playstack made loans  to Storm Chaser UG, a  company based in Germany. Storm Chaser UG is  100% owned
by Storm Chaser Games - an associate company of Playstack (See Note 1). The balance of the loans  (including interest) at
the reporting date was £525,000 (2021: £148,000).

24.          Events after the Reporting Period

Since the year end, Satago has  agreed to extend i ts  agreement with Sage. Ini tia l ly, Satago services  were offered to UK based
Sage 50 packages  only, but this  extens ion is  to now include certain packages  in Ireland.

Additional ly, Satago s igned a statement of work to embed Satago's  invoice finance service into Sage 50 and the solution
was launched during Q1 2023.  
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